

TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

Fakultät für Medizin

Effects of Pridopidine and Abeta Oligomers on Synaptic Plasticity

Da Bin Kim

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät für Medizin der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades einer Doktorin der Medizin genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz: apl. Prof. Dr. Bernhard Haslinger

Prüfer*innen der Dissertation:

- 1. apl. Prof. Dr. Gerhard Rammes
- 2. Priv.-Doz. Dr. Jennifer Altomonte

Die Dissertation wurde am 05.01.2022 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät für Medizin am 12.07.2022 angenommen.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction5
1.1 Pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease (AD)5
1.1.1 Genetic predispositions to AD5
1.1.1.1 Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) polymorphisms5
1.1.1.2 Mutations in presenilin genes6
1.1.1.3 Mutations in amyloid precursor protein (APP) genes6
1.1.2 Physiological functions and pathological effects of A β peptides8
1.1.2.1 Nonamyloidogenic manners of APP8
1.1.2.2 Physiological functions of Aβ8
1.1.2.3 Pathophysiology of A β through receptor interactions9
1.1.3 Diagnosis of AD10
1.2 Synaptic plasticity and memory formation12
1.2.1 Physiological processes of LTP induction and maintenance14
1.3 Pridopidine16
1.3.1 Pridopidine and its pharmacological effects16
1.3.2 Pridopidine and its dopaminergic neuromodulation16
1.3.3 Sigma-1 receptor (S1R) and its multifaceted neuromodulation18
1.3.4 Interactions between S1R and pridopidine20
1.3.5 Clinical aspects of pridopidine22
1.4 Aim of the study25

2. Material and Methods	26
2.1 Material	26
2.1.1 Chemicals	26
2.1.2 Equipment	26
2.1.2.1 Electrophysiology setup	

2.1.2.2 Brain slice preparation	27
2.1.2.3 Software	27
2.2 Methods	27
2.2.1 Composition and preparation of media and solutions	27
2.2.1.1 Artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF)	27
2.2.1.2 A β_{1-42} oligomers	28
2.2.1.3 Pridopidine	28
2.2.2 Brain slice preparation	28
2.2.3 Electrophysiology	30
2.2.3.1 Field excitatory postsynaptic potential (fEPSP)	
2.2.3.2 Experimental setups	33
2.2.4 Analysis and statistics	34

3 Results

3.1	${f A}eta_{1-42}$ oligomers have a negative effect on LTP induction in the
	hippocampus3
3.2	Pridopidine affects LTP induction differently depending on its
	concentration36
3.3	3 Pridopidine (100 nM) reverses $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers-induced LTP deficits.37
3.4	4 Pridopidine (30 nM) reverses A eta_{1-42} oligomers-induced LTP deficits39

Discussion40

4.1 S1R-mediated effects of pridopidine on synaptic plasticity	40
4.2 S1R-mediated synaptogenetic effects of pridopidine	41
4.3 Effects of pridopidine on ER Ca^{2+} homeostasis and A β formation	42
4.4 Effects of pridopidine in synaptic plasticity in dose/time-dependent	t
manners	43

5. Conclusion	44
6. List of Figures	45
7. List of Tables	46
8. References	47
9. Abstract	68
10. Publication	69
11. List of Abbreviations	70
12. Danksagung	75

1. Introduction

1.1 Pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease (AD)

Alzheimer's disease (AD) belongs to a group of neurodegenerative disorders characterized by progressive memory decline. This decline is followed by other cognitive dysfunctions such as attention derangement, visuospatial disorientation (Winblad et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2020), neuropsychiatric disorders (Harwood et al., 2000) and even vegetative dysfunctions (Zahola et al., 2019). AD comprises 50–70% of all dementia (Winblad et al., 2016) and has multifactorial etiologies. Up to 6% of AD cases are attributed to genetic causes, such as the ε 4 allele of the Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) (Zhu et al., 2015). The primary two histopathologic lesions of AD are the intracellular tau neurofibrillary tangles and extracellular amyloid plaque. The amyloid plaques consist of insoluble amyloid-beta (A β) peptides produced through the sequential cleavage of the transmembrane amyloid precursor protein (APP) by two enzymes, β - and γ -secretase (Kummer & Heneka, 2014). A β oligomers are 36–43 amino acid residues in length, and these soluble oligometric forms of A β are likely responsible for pathogenesis of both sporadic and familiar AD (fAD; (Lesne et al., 2013; Selkoe & Hardy, 2016).

1.1.1 Genetic predispositions to AD

1.1.1.1 Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) polymorphisms

Genetic predisposition is a major factor in hereditary early-onset AD and is associated with mutations in genes associated with the APP cleavage process. Specifically, ApoE polymorphisms are the most common known genetic risk factors of early onset (< 65 years) and late onset (> 65 years) AD (Zhu et al., 2015). ApoE proteins are glycoproteins mostly synthesized in the liver and central nervous system (CNS). ApoE proteins are contained in lipoproteins as ligands and facilitate a receptor-mediated endocytosis of lipoproteins. These ApoE proteins are essential for the transportation and absorption of lipids, such as the homeostasis of cholesterol (Huang & Mahley, 2014). In 1998, Simons et al. discovered that cholesterol depletion with cholesterol inhibitors such as statin inhibited Aβ formation in rats' hippocampal cell cultures (Simons et al., 1998). Humans have three ApoE alleles: ApoE2, E3 and E4. In the CNS, ApoE is part of the lipoprotein and is referred to as a high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-like particle. Lipoproteins containing ApoE4 are usually poorly lipidated. An antibody experiment targeting ApoE revealed that immunotherapy targeting poorly lipidated ApoE might be effective against AD (Chernick et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2012; Liao et al., 2018); therefore, ApoE4 is considered a risk factor (including, for example, a homozygous allele of ApoE4/E4 and ApoE3/E4). An allele with ApoE2 is considered protective against AD (Cacace et al., 2016; Chernick et al., 2018; Dulewicz et al., 2021; Safieh et al., 2019).

1.1.1.2 Mutations in presenilin genes

Mutations in presenilin genes 1 (PSEN1, in chromosome 14) and 2 (PSEN2, in chromosome 1) are also responsible for pathogenesis of early-onset, familiar forms of AD. Presenilin 1 (PS1) or presenilin 2 (PS2) are parts of the γ -secretase-complex in the ER membrane and function as catalytic compounds in reactions involving aspartyl-proteases. Mutation of PSEN1 or PSEN2 enhances A β production (Cacace et al., 2016; Rosenberg et al., 2016).

1.1.1.3 Mutations in amyloid precursor protein (APP) genes

An autosomal-dominant mutation of APP genes causes an early-onset hereditary form of AD. Because APP genes are found on chromosome 21, patients with Down syndrome have high incidence of AD—30% of people over age 50 with Down syndrome suffer from AD. The London Mutation (V717I) was the first APP mutation discovered and is the most common APP mutation of early-onset fAD. This mutation causes the substitution of valine for isoleucine in codon 717 of the APP gene. This mutation is often used in preclinical animal experiments to test novel AD therapeutics (Cruts et al., 2012; Grigor'eva et al., 2019).



Figure 1. Amyloidogenic (upper) and nonamyloidogenic (lower) APP process pathways (Kummer & Heneka, 2014)

APP is a precursor molecule of A β . An amyloidogenic pathway of APP processing requires a cleavage of APP by β -secretase before position 1 of the A β domain in its Nterminal. This process yields a C-terminal stub called β -C-terminal fragment (β -CTF), which can be further cleaved by γ -secretase in multiple sites or transmembrane domain from position 17. This process generates A β peptides of various lengths or amino acids at position 40, 38, or 42. Shorter isoforms of A β are sometimes generated by sequential cleavage of α -secretase before position 17. In the nonamyloidogenic pathway, APP is first cleaved by α -secretase in position 16 or 17, releasing sAPP α and leaving an α -CTF, which can be further cleaved by γ -secretase, liberating P3 peptides.

1.1.2 Physiological functions and pathological effects of A β peptides

1.1.2.1 Non-amyloidogenic manners of APP

A β peptides are produced through cleavage of APP. APP is a singletransmembrane protein with a cytoplasmic C-terminus and an extracellular glycosylated-N-terminus that has 695–770 amino acids. APP isoforms of 695 amino acids are mainly expressed in neuronal synapses. Soluble amyloid precursor proteins (sAPP α) are released through the non-amyloidogenic pathway by α -secretase (**Figure 1**). The rate of sAPP α release is increased by activation of the muscarinergic acetycholin receptor. Results from preclinical trials suggest that the nonamyloidogenic pathway could be a therapeutic target of AD (Anderson et al., 1999; Borroni et al., 2002; Sennvik et al., 2000). In APPtransgenic mouse models of AD, the expression rate of sAPP α has been negatively correlated with the APP amyloidogenic process (Obregon et al., 2012). In 2013, Hasebe et al. incubated cortical neurons of mice with sAPP α , which promoted neurite outgrowth. However, none of the clinical trials resulted in cognitive improvement for patients (Habib et al., 2017).

1.1.2.2 Physiological functions of $A\beta$

There is also emerging evidence that the monomer state of $A\beta$ has neuroprotective characteristics as a synaptic modulator that is mediated through activation of the insulin/insulin growth factor (IGF) -1 receptors, a family of tyrosine-kinase receptors (Zimbone et al., 2018). Insulin/IGF-1 receptors are transmembrane proteins that are activated by two IGF-factors (IGF-1/2) and by insulin (Xu et al., 2018). They are widely distributed in mammalian cell surfaces and regulate proliferation, survival and differentiation of normal and neoplastic cells (Brahmkhatri et al., 2015). In the CNS, insulin/IGF-1 receptors are widely expressed in the hypothalamus, hippocampus, olfactory nerve, cerebellum and neocortex (Baltazar-Lara et al., 2020).

Several metabolic diseases could be associated with AD. Existing work has demonstrated that the insulin signaling pathway affects AD pathology. A β -

oligomers inhibit autophosphorylation of the tyrosine-kinase receptor and downregulate the insulin/IGF-1 receptor (Giuffrida et al., 2012). Decreased insulin sensitivity is also related to tau hyperphosphorylation via glycogen synthase kinase- 3α (GSK- 3α), reduced A β clearance, and neuroinflammation (Kellar & Craft, 2020). Indeed, insulin infusion has been found to reduce the expression of APP and presenilin in experiments with mononuclear cells (Dandona et al., 2011). Vandal et al. also demonstrated that an insulin injection decreased cortical-soluble A β and promoted A β efflux through the blood-brain barrier in a diabetic mouse model (Vandal & Calon, 2015). A β peptide is also associated with cholesterol metabolism. As mentioned above, increased expression of ApoE4, which also indicates poor lipidation of lipoproteins, is correlated with impaired A β clearance in the CNS.

Recent research has also indicated a possible antimicrobial function of A β , which has been associated with prolonged cell survival of mice brains infected with herpes encephalitis (Eimer et al., 2018). Increased viral DNA and RNAs were found in postmortem tissues of AD patients (Readhead et al., 2018). Valacyclovir is currently in phase 2 clinical trials (VALAD trial; NCT03282916) as an antiviral therapeutic (Devanand et al., 2020). In experiments with cell-free oxidative systems with metal ions, A β_{1-40} also functioned as a radical scavenger at nanomolar concentrations (Baruch-Suchodolsky & Fischer, 2009).

1.1.2.3 Pathophysiology of Aβ through receptor interactions

An extracellular aggregation and accumulation of A β peptide through interaction with cellular prion protein (PrP^c) has historically been considered the main form of pathophysiology in AD (Lauren et al., 2009). However, bindings of A β to various receptors and their subcellular modulations also cause neuronal cell toxicity and cell death. PrPc interacts not only with A β oligomers but also with metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) and induces Ca²⁺ release from intracellular ER storage (Beraldo et al., 2016). Soluble oligomeric forms of A β also interact with numerous other ionic receptors, such as the N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor (NMDAr) and the alpha-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChr) (Beraldo et al., 2016; Nagele et al., 2002). Through these receptor interactions, A β oligomers disrupt the Ca²⁺ homeostasis that induces neuronal toxicity, synaptic disruption, and cell death (Chen et al., 2017). Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins (LRPs) also react with A β and APP, regulating ligand- (i.e., ApoE-) mediated endocytosis of cholesterols and A β clearance, suggesting that LRP and A β have close functional relationship (Marzolo & Bu, 2009). A β oligomers are also related to mitochondrial dysfunction, which induces oxidative stress by producing reactive oxygen species (ROS; (Chen et al., 2017; Swerdlow, 2018).

1.1.3 Diagnosis of AD

In addition to medical history such as behavioral observation or neurological examinations, several neuropsychological tests, such as the mini-mental state test (MMST) or the clock-drawing test, can be used to assess the cognitive decline of patients. The Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD) was also developed in 1986 and was sponsored by the National Institute of Aging (NIA) in the USA **(Table 1)**. The result of these efforts was a neuropsychological battery that is more accurate than the MMST for assessing AD and even other non-AD forms of dementia, such as Lewy body dementia or Parkinson's disease (PD; (Breton et al., 2019; Camargo et al., 2018; Hellwig et al., 2013; Muller et al., 2019).



Table 1. The main batteries of CERAD (Fillenbaum et al., 2008)

Clinical and neuropsychological batteries were first developed by CERAD investigators. Several standardized assessments were then added, including neuropathological assessment, neuroimaging evaluation, behavioral rating scales, and even autopsy resources from deceased AD patients.

Several cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) abnormalities observed in AD patients are significant biomarkers; these include enhancement of the tau protein, phosphorylated-tau protein and A β_{1-42} (Olsson et al., 2016). A β_{1-40} is the most common form of A β , followed by A β_{1-38} and A β_{1-42} . Among these, A β_{1-42} is 42 amino acids in length and is most likely to aggregate and disrupt synaptic plasticity through NMDA receptors (Kummer & Heneka, 2014; Rammes et al., 2015; Rammes et al., 2011). Since A β_{1-42} predominates in senile plaques, the A $\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{1-40}$ ratio of the CSF in AD patients should be under 0.1. However, according to a meta-analysis conducted by Cochrane in 2014, CSF-A β levels and ratios cannot be recommended for diagnosing early-stage AD with mild

cognitive impairment because of poor data quality and huge variations in data sensitivity and specificity (Ritchie et al., 2014).

Computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be used to detect brain atrophy, such as atrophy of the hippocampus in the temporal lobe (Wolinsky et al., 2018). Moreover, 18-fluorine radionuclide tracers have been developed for amyloid or tau-positron emission tomography (amyloid or tau-PET) to detect depositions of neurodegenerative biomarkers in brain networks (Whitwell, 2018). Regional cerebral blood flow imaging that uses single-photon emission computed tomography (rCBF-SPECT) might also be helpful in AD diagnosis (Valotassiou et al., 2018). However, results from a Japanese retrospective multicenter study in 2019 suggested that negative rCBF-SPECT without a typical AD pattern in imaging cannot definitively eliminate the possibility of AD (Takahashi et al., 2019).

Through various neuroimaging methods, it is also crucial to exclude other structural CNS-pathologies, such as normal pressure hydrocephalus (Picascia et al., 2015) or vascular forms of dementia (Emrani et al., 2020; Escobar et al., 2019). Neuropsychological tests can also be used to identify alternative diagnoses such as deliriums or secondary forms of dementia caused by depression (Wang et al., 2021).

1.2 Synaptic plasticity and memory formation

Encoding and retrieval of memories at conscious or unconscious levels requires complex neurochemical changes between hippocampal circuits and cortex. To discover treatments for cognitive decline and memory impairment in AD, the hippocampus and its established roles in synaptic plasticity have received much attention. Synaptic plasticity, which is crucial for memory and learning, underlies the capacity of the brain to vary its synaptic network and its strength of connectivity in response to external inputs. This occurs through persistent activation of synapses in a bidirectional manner, either as a long-term potentiation (LTP) or long-term depression (LTD). Novel information can be selectively encoded as a long-term memory, and this process is a well-established role of the hippocampus (Bear, 2003; Bliss & Lomo, 1973). Indeed, glutamatergic neurotransmissions in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway (SCCP) of the hippocampus are the best-known cellular correlates of LTP (Bliss & Collingridge, 1993; Bubb et al., 2017).



Figure 2. Electrophysiological experiment setup for inducing LTP and LTD in the murine hippocampus (Riedemann et al., 2010)

The upper panel describes the coronal section of a murine hippocampal slice. Hippocampal formation is attributed to three molecular layers of the allocortex. The dentate gyrus (DG) receives inputs from the entorhinal cortex. Inputs are then transferred through CA3 and SCCP to CA1 and out of the hippocampus to the subiculum. A stimulation electrode can be placed in SCCP and a recording electrode in CA1 to induce and record LTP and LTD.

The lower panel visualizes how the amplitude of a single excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP) can be quantified by the signal's slope. After a baseline level, high-frequency stimulation (HFS, 100 Hz) can be applied to induce LTP (left). The right panel describes the induction of LTD through application of low-frequency stimulation (LFS, 1–5 Hz) in SCCP.

LTP was conceptualized by Terje Lømo, a Norwegian physiologist. He discovered in his electrophysiological experiments that an HFS yielded prolonged excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP) in postsynaptic cells of the dentate gyrus in the rabbit hippocampus (Lomo, 2003). Indeed, LTP can be observed at every excitatory synapse in brain regions such as the anterior cingulate or insular region of the cerebral cortex; these regions offer a synaptic model for pain and emotion (Zhuo, 2018). LTP in Purkinje-cell synapses in the cerebellum plays a key role in motor learning (Gallimore et al., 2018). LTP can also be induced in other limbic systems, such as the amygdala (Kim & Cho, 2017). LTP in the nucleus accumbens and ventral tegmental area is associated with addiction (Thomas & Malenka, 2003), which can also be defined as part of learning and memory processes. Numerous neurotransmitters are involved in physiological processes of LTP, even in signaling pathways between hippocampal subfields. For example, the CA3-CA1 SCCP, which is considered a prototype of LTP, requires NMDA receptors to induce LTP. In contrast, in the mossy fiber pathway, the mGluR plays an important role (Nistico et al., 2011). In addition to the glutamatergic input, dopamine (DA), noradrenaline (NA), acetylcholine (Ach), serotonin (5-HT), and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) are involved in these subtle processes in different brain areas (Bubb et al., 2017; Edelmann et al., 2017).

1.2.1 Physiological processes of LTP induction and maintenance

During the early phase of LTP (eLTP), postsynaptic Ca²⁺ concentrations increase through activation of NMDAr, which then activates several protein kinases including protein kinase C (PKC; (Kelly et al., 2007; Patel & Zamani,

2021). The activation of PKC in turn activates an α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPAr). Moreover, this process increases the flow of AMPAr into the postsynaptic membrane (Penn et al., 2017). However, these AMPA receptors are not synthesized specifically during eLTP. AMPArs are instead pooled from adjacent intracellular postsynaptic regions, so eLTP occurs without the need for protein synthesis and gene modulation. Moreover, eLTP can be triggered by a single HFS and usually lasts for 2–3 hours (Pang & Lu, 2004; Patel & Zamani, 2021).

If eLTP is extended to the late phase of LTP (ILTP), it requires enlargement of pre- and postsynaptic structures such as postsynaptic densities of dendritic mushroom spines and axonal boutons. Notably, ILTP can last days to months and can be increased through repetitions of HFS (Baltaci et al., 2019; Patel & Zamani, 2021). These processes are induced by activation of a cascade of several protein kinases, such as protein kinase A (PKA), calcium-calmodulindependent protein kinase II (CAMKII), and mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (Adams et al., 2000; Kelly et al., 2007). This process induces a cascade of phosphorylation of transcription factors such as cAMP-response element binding proteins (CREB) to regulate the transcription of the genes. (Baltaci et al., 2019). A transcription of protein kinase M-zeta (PKMζ) genes is necessary to maintain LTP (Hernandez et al., 2003; Patel & Zamani, 2021; Sacktor, 2008). PKMZ is a constitutively active isoform of PKC, since it lacks the regulatory N-terminal domain (Kelly et al., 2007). PKMζ stabilizes AMPAr at the postsynaptic membrane through interaction with an ATPase called Nethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein (NSF; (Yao et al., 2008). NSF also inhibits endocytosis of AMPAr by blocking the interaction between AMPAr and protein interacting with C kinase-1 (PICK1; (Hanley et al., 2002). Furthermore, PKMZ stabilizes AMPAr at the postsynaptic membrane via its interaction with a scaffolding protein called postsynaptic density protein 95 (PSD-95) and inhibits lateral diffusion of AMPAr, anchoring AMPAr in the synaptic membrane (Shao et al., 2012; Yudowski et al., 2013). PKMζ maintains its activation via a positive feedback mechanism. This mechanism involves phosphorylation and inhibition

of a protein interacting with NIMA 1 (PIN1) that blocks gene translation of PKMζ (Kelly et al., 2007; Patel & Zamani, 2021). Overexpression of PKMζ is also implicated in the maturation of dendritic spines; such overexpression transforms dendritic spines into stubby forms that are stable and can last for months (Holtmaat et al., 2005; Ron et al., 2012).

1.3 Pridopidine

1.3.1 Pridopidine and its pharmacological effects

Pridopidine—formerly ACR16:4-[3-(methylsulfonyl)phenyl]-1-propylpiperidine hydrochloride, Huntexil®—is a phenylpiperidine compound originally developed by Arcid Carlsson Research Laboratories (de Yebenes et al., 2011; Sahlholm et al., 2015). Pridopidine belongs to a pharmacological class of agents called dopidines. It was originally used in preclinical trials to treat motor symptoms of Huntington's disease (HD) because it could correct both hyper- and hypoactive locomotion induced by D-amphetamine in rat models of HD without significant motor side effects (Natesan et al., 2006; Ponten et al., 2010; Ponten et al., 2013). Pridopidine could also reduce L-Dopa-induced unilateral hyperactive locomotion without completely desensitizing L-Dopa effects in rodent PD models (Ponten et al., 2013). This effect was, however, initially believed to be modulated by dopaminergic transmission (Dyhring et al., 2010).

1.3.2 Pridopidine and its dopaminergic neuromodulation

Due to its state-dependent and dual-functioning characteristics, pridopidine has historically been defined as a "dopamine-stabilizer" distinct from other dopamine D2 receptor (D2R) agonists or antagonists (**Figure 3**; (Ponten et al., 2010).



Figure 3. Molecular structure of DA and pridopidine.

Pridopidine was first discovered in 1998 (Ponten et al., 2010) and was initially understood to be a competitive D2R antagonist with 'activity-dependent' D2R occupancy (Dyhring et al., 2010).

Pridopidine was initially thought to modulate D2R. However, pridopidine has a relatively low affinity in the micromolar range (IC50 and Ki for D2R 10uM; (Pettersson et al., 2010; Rung et al., 2008). Pridopidine is a substance with almost no intrinsic activity associated with D2R. Pridopidine interacts preferably to already-activated D2R and has rapid dissociation properties that depend on the preexisting activity state of D2R (Pettersson et al., 2010; Tadori et al., 2007). This quality might also explain why pridopidine produces less antidopaminergic side effects such as anhedonia, dysphoria or extrapyramidal motor symptoms compared to other dopamine antagonists like haloperidol (Nilsson et al., 2004). There are two isoforms of D2R: D2 long and D2 short (D2L and D2S, respectively) that have distinct functions and distributions in the human body (Usiello et al., 2000). Haloperidol is assumed to block D2L, and pridopidine instead interacts with D2S (Nilsson et al., 2004; Usiello et al., 2000).

Nilsson et al., 2004	Pridopidine improved the behavioral repertoire of mice injected with (+)-MK-801, and this effect might demonstrate this treatment's positive cognitive effects.
Rung, Carlsson et al., 2005	Pridopidine reversed (+)-MK-801-induced social withdrawal in rat model of Schizophrenia.
Natesan, Svensson et al., 2006	Pridopidine revealed an antipsychotic-like effect in addition to stabilization of amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotor activity (Nilsson & Carlsson, 2013).
Sahlholm, Valle-Leon et al., 2018	Pridopidine reversed phencyclidine-induced amnestic deficits in object recognition experiments in rodents. This effect could be blocked by the sigma receptor antagonist NE-100.

Table 2. Unique functions of pridopidine revealed in preclinical trials

These unique activities of pridopidine indicate that its function might not be limited to regulating D_2R (Natesan et al., 2006; Nilsson et al., 2004; Rung et al., 2005; Sahlholm et al., 2018).

In preclinical trials, treatment with pridopidine had antipsychotic, procognitive and prosocial effects. In clinical research, limited but certain cognitive improvements were also observed in patients with schizophrenia (Carlsson & Carlsson, 2006) or PD (Tedroff J, 2004) after treatment with pridopidine. These findings suggest that pridopidine might have additional neuroprotective effects that are not typical of a D2R ligand **(Table 2)**.

Cognitive improvement is highly expressed in the prefrontal cortex and also underlies cortical up-regulation of the dopamine D1 receptor (D1R; (White et al., 1991). Stimulation of D1R could strengthen the induction of LTP in the murine hippocampus (Hansen & Manahan-Vaughan, 2014). D1R is also involved in visuospatial working memory formation in animal experiments (Muller et al., 1998). Pridopidine's actions on D1R are, however, rather indirect; for example, this interaction may occur through enhancing receptor gene transcription and trafficking though a sigma-1 receptor (S1R; (Kusko et al., 2018). In Section 1.3.3, these mechanisms are further discussed in detail.

1.3.3 Sigma-1 receptor (S1R) and its multifaceted neuromodulation

S1R is a 223-amino-acid-long 25 kD single transmembrane protein located in the mitochondrial-associated membrane (MAM) of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). S1Rs are highly expressed in neuronal and glial cells in the brain.



Table 3. Distribution of S1R in the brain (high to low; (Lepelletier et al., 2020)An *in vivo* PET ligand-tracer experiment revealed in rodents and humans that S1Rshas anatomically different distribution rates in the brain.

An *in vivo* PET imaging experiment using radiotracer-ligands revealed that pridopidine displays up to 20-fold higher nanomolar-binding affinity for S1R compared to D₂R (Grachev et al., 2021; Sahlholm et al., 2015). Indirect dopaminergic effects of pridopidine might also be modulated by S1R: dopamine receptors and S1R can build heteromers in striatal neurons in rodents, restoring dopamine terminal density. However, this effect was diminished in S1R-knockout rodents (Francardo et al., 2014; Navarro et al., 2013).



Figure 4. Simplified model of S1R (D. A. Ryskamp et al., 2019; Schmidt et al., 2016)

Many oligomeric forms (140–400 kDa) of S1R have been suggested in preclinical trials. There is limited evidence that monomeric states could represent an active form of S1R, since agonists such as pridopidine or pentazocine promote S1R dissociation into monomeric forms that build functional heteromers with other interaction partners.

Administration of S1R agonists increases cellular translocation of S1R monomers in various cell fractions such as nuclear envelopes or plasma membranes (Hayashi & Su, 2003; Meunier et al., 2006). In contrary, S1R antagonists such as haloperidol stabilize S1R oligomers. S1R oligomers stay linked to other ER-proteins such as binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) chaperone. Therefore, S1R antagonists restrict the localization of S1R oligomers in ER fraction. The shifting balance of S1R between monomeric and oligomeric forms might define its activity state (Gromek et al., 2014; Mishra et al., 2015).

S1R density might not be a direct predictor of disease progress and cell loss because of its complex subcellular interactions. S1R functions as a 'ligand-operated molecular chaperone' through direct protein interaction in the ER-membrane (Figure 4). The effects of S1R depend on its subcellular interaction partners and inner cell contexts. Indeed, the cortical and cerebellar expressions of S1R were decreased in *in vivo* and *in vitro* human AD and PD studies (Jansen et al., 1993; Mishina et al., 2005; Mishina et al., 2008). A PET ligand-tracer experiment revealed that S1R bindings were in fact increased in rodents with AMPA lesions (Lepelletier et al., 2020). In late HD brains, S1R protein levels were also more elevated than in early HD brains (Ryskamp et al., 2017).

1.3.4 Interactions between S1R and pridopidine

Initial studies on the potential role of pridopidine were conducted with animal models of HD. HD is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by extrapyramidal motor symptoms, such as hyperkinesia, initiated and accompanied by neuropsychological and cognitive decline. HD is an autosomal-dominant hereditary disease caused by a mutation in the Huntingtin gene that produces the Huntingtin protein (Htt). A mutated Huntingtin protein (mHtt) results from a trinucleotide repeat expansion of cytosine-adenine-guanine (CAG) with more than 40 repeats in the Huntingtin gene. This causes an increase in neuronal cell death, mostly in the basal ganglia (Kumar et al., 2015). Sporadic HD is another rare condition that occurs without family history. If parents have an intermediate range of CAG repeats, they are unlikely to

develop HD, but these CAG repeats can be passed to their children (Watanabe et al., 2000).



Figure 5. The signaling pathway promoted by pridopidine through S1R (Kusko et al., 2018)

A. a schematic representation of the corticostriatal pathway (A) in mammals' striatal and cortical co-culture

B. Htt promotes axonal transport of BDNF and glutamate for vesical release in the synaptic membrane in wild type striatum. Binding of BDNF and glutamate in postsynaptic density initiate tropomyosin receptor kinase B (TrkB) signaling in the striatum. TrkB acts as a catalytic receptor to mediate multiple functions of neurotrophic factors, such as neuronal survival and differentiation.

C. However, mHtt disrupts axonal transport of glutamate, BDNF and, consequently, TrkB signaling. Through decrease of BDNF levels in striatal neuron ER, Ca²⁺ homeostasis can be also disrupted.

D. An increase in striatal BDNF levels and restoration of ER Ca²⁺ levels can be achieved through direct activation of S1R through treatment with pridopidine

In preclinical animal models of HD, pridopidine relieved behavioral and motor symptoms through direct activation of S1R, mostly in ER in the striatum and cortex, by increasing gene transcription of several subcellular pathways, such as BDNF, D1R (Geva et al., 2016) and glucocorticoid receptor (GR) pathways (Maurice et al., 2001). Pridopidine upregulates through these neurotrophic pathway gene transcriptions, restores ER Ca²⁺ levels in striatal neurons, and stabilizes dendritic mushroom spines (Figure 5; (Ryskamp et al., 2017). Interestingly, a transgenic effect of pridopidine was more effective if treatment was initiated in early phases of disease; in this case, a robust gene expression was induced in a dose-proportional manner. Early treatment also improved neuropsychological symptoms of mice with HD, such as anxiety and depression. However, a late treatment only impacted depressive symptoms. However, neither early nor late treatment mitigated neuronal atrophy in the basal ganglia in late phases of HD, suggesting that pridopidine might be less effective as a disease-modifying substance in late phases of disease (Garcia-Miralles et al., 2017).

1.3.5 Clinical aspects of pridopidine

Loss of function mutations or polymorphisms of S1R may be related to various neurodegenerative diseases such as AD, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), frontotemporal dementia (FTD), PD and HD. Pridopidine, a S1R modulator, is currently undergoing several clinical trials to evaluate its efficacy in treating these diseases. In the USA, pridopidine was investigated in phase 2 clinical trials for the treatment of levodopa-induced dyskinesia in PD until July 2020, when trials were terminated due to the COVID-19 pandemic (McFarthing et al., 2019). Pridopidine is also currently in phase 2 and 3 clinical trials (HEALEY ALS platform; NCT04297683) for ALS in the USA and received orphan drug designation for ALS treatment in July 2021.

HD	Phase 3, ongoing	
	Orphan drug designation in USA/Europe	
ALS	Phase 3, ongoing	
	Orphan drug designation in USA	
PD	Phase 2 for L-Dopa induced dyskinesia, terminated	
AD	Preclinical cellular/animal trials	

Table 4. Clinical trials with pridopidine in neurodegenerative diseases

A clinical trial for schizophrenia was discontinued. There have also been preclinical trials for several eye disorders, including fragile X syndrome and Rett syndrome **(resource: https://clinicaltrials.gov**).

Two multicenter, randomized clinical trials for HD were sponsored by Teva pharmaceuticals: HART(Huntington Study Group, 2013) in the USA and MermaiHD (de Yebenes et al., 2011) in Europe. HART was a phase 2, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Pridopidine was tested at three different doses: 20 mg, 45 mg, 90 mg or a placebo for 12 weeks; this trial involved 229 patients. In MermaiHD, 437 patients received either 45 mg, 90 mg or a placebo for 26 weeks. Neither studies reached primary endpoints due to insignificant improvement as measured by the Unified Huntington Disease Rating Scale (UHDRS) motor score **(Table 5)**. However, pridopidine was generally well tolerated at any dose without significant side effects. Moreover, patients who underwent an open-label extension study after HART and MermaiHD experienced slower decline of functional capacity in daily life, as measured by the Total Functional Capacity (TFC) scale (McGarry et al., 2017; Waters et al., 2018). The TFC scale measures a functional component of patients' daily lives, including one's ability to manage tasks such as financing or managing their work. The scale ranges from 0 to 13 (Gibson et al., 2021).

Total motor score	Cognitive functions
Chorea, dystonia, oculomotor functions, dysarthria, gait, postural instability	Verbal fluency
	Symbol digit modalities
	Stroop interface test (color/word)
Total behavior score	Functional checklist score
Mood, behavior, psychosis,	Independence scale
obsessive	TFC

Table 5. UHDRS-TFC scale (Long et al., 2017)

The UHDRS-TFC scale measures the disease stage and functional status of HD patients. The UHDRS scale is an assessment tool for motor, cognitive, behavioral and neuropsychiatric symptoms of HD. Patients' functional capacity in daily life, for example, their ability to go work, to manage finances or household tasks to maintain their independency, can be further assessed using the TFC scale. Impairments to functional capacity might already be significant in early stages of HD.

Pridopidine is currently owned by Prilenia Therapeurics, which sponsored another phase 2 clinical study, PRIDE-HD (Reilmann et al., 2019). Doses of up to 112.5 mg (higher than previous studies) were investigated. Pridopidine did not yield statistically significant therapy effects, as measured by UHDRS-scores after 26 weeks of treatment. However, a slow disease progression was assumed in extended clinical trials after 52 weeks, as measured using the TFCscale. Here, a dose of 90 mg per day was assumed to be most effective based on the UHDRS-score. At 45 mg twice-daily (b.i.d) doses, a PET-ligand tracer experiment indicated that pridopidine occupied up to 90% of the S1R in human brains. (Grachev et al., 2021) No major side effects from pridopidine have been described. However, some rare but serious adverse events were reported: falls (in five patients), suicidal attempts and thoughts (in four and three patients, respectively), head trauma (three patients), and aspiration pneumonia (three patients).

Currently, pridopidine has an orphan drug status for HD and ALS treatment in the USA. In Europe, pridopidine only has an orthan drug status for HD. Since October 2020, pridopidine has been in the third phase of clinical trials for HD (PROOF HD; NCT04556656). PROOF HD is a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled trial in Europe, the USA and Canada that includes 480 patients aged 20 and older who are in the early stages of adult-onset HD. Patients will be treated with either 45 mg pridopidine or with a placebo b.i.d. UHDRS scores between placebo and treatment group will be compared from the baseline at week 1 to week 65. The expected completion day of this research is April 2023.

1.4 Aim of the study

In 2005, Marrazzo et al. first investigated the neuroprotective effects of S1R agonists against Aβ-induced toxicity in the brain (Marrazzo et al., 2005). Indeed, pridopidine reversed memory impairment in behavioral studies (Sahlholm et al., 2018) and also stabilized dendritic mushroom spines in murine CNS (D. Ryskamp et al., 2019). Pridopidine also prevented functional capacity decline in HD patients, possibly through its antiamnesic and procognitive effect. The aim of this study is to gain an understanding of the neuroprotective characteristics of pridopidine in attenuating A β_{1-42} oligomer toxicity in hippocampal neurons. A β_{1-42} oligomers were tested for detrimental effects on LTP in murine hippocampal slices. After confirming such detrimental effects, pridopidine was cotreated in an attempt to reverse LTP deficits. The methodological constraints of testing interactions of A β with any drug using LTP as a readout requires one to apply concentrations of drugs that do not interfere with LTP per se. Therefore, the

highest dose of pridopidine that did not inhibit LTP was used for the first set of experiments. Then, we tested whether pridopidine could restore LTP.

2. Material and Methods

2.1 Material

2.1.1 Chemicals (Table 6)

Αβ ₁₋₄₂	Bachem, Bubendorf, Schwitzerland
Ethanol	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Aceton	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
D-(+)-Glucose-Monohydrat	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
Histoacryl Tissue Adhesive	B.Braun Melsungen AG, Tuttlingen, Germany
Isoflurane	CP-Pharma, Burgdorf, Germany
Calciumchlorid-Dihydrate	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
Potassium Chloride	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
Magnesiumchloride-Hexahydrate	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sodium Chloride	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sodium Bicarbonate	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
Sodium Phosphate Monohydrate	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Taufkirchen, Germany
Pridopidine	Cambrex Karlskoga AB, Karskoga, Sweden

2.1.2 Equipment

2.1.2.1 Electrophysiology setup (Table 7)

Dinagular Migragana Stami 1000	Zaina Cättingan Cormony
Binocular Microscope Sterni 1000	Zeiss, Gouingen, Germany
Headstage CV20303BU	Axon Instruments, Sunnyvale, USA
Amplifier Multiplyer Axonpatch 200B	Axon Instruments, Sunnyvale, USA
Piezomanipulator PM 500-20	Axon Instruments, Sunnyvale, USA
Isolated Stimulator, Type 2533	Devices, Garden City, Hertfordshire, England
Panel Mounted Pump IS3124A	Ismatec, Glattburg, Germany
Peristaltic Pump	

Borosilicate Glass Electrodes	Hugo Sachs Electronic-Harvard Apparatus	
(OD 1,5mm/ID 1,17mm)	GmbH, March-Hugstetten, Germany	
Glass Electrode Puller -DMZ Universal	Zeitz Instruments, Munich Germany	
Bipolar Tungsten Electrodes	Hugo Sachs Electronic-Harvard Apparatus	
	GmbH, March-Hugstetten, Germany	
Laboratory Interface Board, ITC-16	Instrutech Corp. NY, USA	

2.1.2.2 Brain slice preparation (Table 8)

Vibratome Microm HM 650 V	Thermo Scientific, Walldorf, Germany
Water Bath ED (v.2)	JULABO GmbH, Seelbach, Germany

2.1.2.3 Software (Table 9)

Recording Software Win LTP v. 1.10	Anderson and Collingridge,		
	University of Bristol, UK		
Analysis Software WIN LTP	Anderson and Collingridge,		
Reanalysis v. 1.10	University of Bristol, UK		
Statistics IBM SPSS v. 24	International Business Machines		
	Corporation (IBM), Armonk, New York, U.S.		
Microsoft Office Excel 2016	Microsoft Corporation, Redmond,		
	Washington, USA		
Graphs Graph Pad Prism 6.0	Graph Pad Software, Inc, La Jolla,		
	California, USA		

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Composition and preparation of media and solutions

2.2.1.1 Artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF)

NaCl	KCI	D-glucose	NaHCO3	CaCl2	MgSO4	NaH2PO4
124 mM	3 mM	10 mM	26 mM	2 mM	1 mM	1.25 mM

Table 10. Composition of Ca2+-containing ACSF (later only referred to as ACSF)

In all experiments, ACSF was saturated with carbogen (95% O2 / 5% CO2) and maintained a pH of 7.3. To prevent Ca^{2+} -induced excitotoxicity, Ca^{2+} -free ACSF was used during the brain slice preparation.

2.2.1.2 A β_{1-42} oligomers

To produce 100 μ M A β 1-42 stock solutions, 50 μ g of solid A β ₁₋₄₂ was dissolved in 111 μ l of DMSO. The solution was dissolved in an ultrasonic bath for 1–2 min and mixed in the vortex. This procedure was repeated until solid A β ₁₋₄₂ and DMSO became visually indistinguishable. During the experiment with A β ₁₋₄₂, A β ₁₋₄₂ stock solution was added to the ACSF bath, resulting in a final concentration of 50 nM. After the application of the A β ₁₋₄₂/DMSO solution, pH of the ACSF was maintained at a physiological level (7.4) throughout the experiment.

2.2.1.3 Pridopidine

First, 3.18mg of solid pridopidine was dissolved in 1ml distilled water using the ultrasonic bath and the vortex mixer. A pridopidine stock solution was produced with a concentration of 10 mM. The stock solution was aliquoted and stored at - 4°C. During the experiment, the stock solution was further diluted by application to the ACSF bath, resulting in final concentrations of 1 μ M, 300 nM, 100 nM and 30 nM.

2.2.2 Brain slice preparation

The experimental protocols were approved by the ethical committee on animal care and use of the government of Bavaria, Germany. Eight-week-old male wild type C57BI/6 mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and decapitated. After decapitation, further processing for brain slice preparation was performed in ice-cold Ca²⁺-free ACSF, which was continuously saturated with carbogen (95% O2/5% CO2). The brain was immediately removed from the skull, and two hemispheres were separated with a razor blade, which was first cleansed with acetone, ethanol and distilled water. The hemispheres were fixed with

hystoacryl glue on the metal block and transferred into the vibratome, which was also filled with ice-cold ACSF saturated with carbogen (Figure 6). The whole procedure until this point was completed within 1 min of decapitation. The cerebellum was next removed. Slices were continuously cut off until the hippocampi were clearly visible. We used preferentially hippocampal slices located medial since at this position, the neuroanatomical orientation of the dendrites lays parallel to the slice plane and ensures the retention of full length CA1 neurons with healthy physiological capacity.



Figure 6. Vibratom preparing 350-um-thick hippocampal brain slices A maximum of three 350-µm-thick slices with hippocampi were obtained from each hemisphere and stored in the holding chamber with carbogen-saturated ACSF (**Figure 7**). For regeneration of the slices, the holding chamber with the brain slices was incubated in a water bath for 30 min and the temperature was gradually brought to 35°C. During the next processes, the holding chamber was continuously carbogenated at room temperature (20–22°C).



Figure 7. Brain-slice-holding chamber

2.2.3 Electrophysiology

2.2.3.1 Field excitatory postsynaptic potential (fEPSP)

Acute sagittal hippocampal slices were placed using a pipette in an immersion superfusing chamber (also a recording chamber; **Figure 9**) with an extracellular microelectrode setup. (**Figure 8**) The brain slices were fixed with a platinum grid in an ACSF-filled recording chamber. Carbogen-saturated ACSF was continuously provided in the recording chamber through a pump system in a closed circuit at a flow rate of 6 mL/min.



immersion superfusing chamber





recording electrode sealed with borosilicate glas micropipette field with ACSF

electrodes (P0 or P1) on stratum radiatum

two tungsten bipolar stimlation brain hippocampal slice fixed with platinum grid in

needles providing carbogen saturated ACSF immergion superfusing chamber from pump system (green circles)

Figure 9. Immersion superfusing chamber

Both ends of SCCP from CA3 pyramidal cells were stimulated by two tungsten stimulation electrodes to generate nonoverlapping inputs, P0 and P1, representing four different experimental conditions (a control, only AB, only pridopidine, or both AB and pridopidine)

Extracellular recordings of fEPSPs were obtained by stimulating the SCCP passing through the hippocampal area CA1 of the stratum radiatum. Two tungsten bipolar microelectrodes (stimulation electrodes P0 and P1) were positioned at the anterior and the posterior end of the CA1 region using the binocular microscope and micromanipulators. Polarization of stimulus electrodes could be minimized using diphasic pulses through the twisted tungsten wire (insulated tips, a tip diameter of 50 μ m). The recording electrode was a silver chloride (Ag/AgCI) electrode sealed with a borosilicate glass micropipette with an open tip (tip resistance of 1–2 MΩ) filled with ACSF. The recording electrode was positioned precisely between the two stimulus electrodes in the stratum radiatum.

Test stimuli were adjusted and applied (at a rate of 0.033 Hz, 4–5V, 20 µs per stimulating electrode) at intervals while slowly lowering the recording electrode onto the slice surface. The fEPSP amplitude was adjusted until it corresponded to 25–50% of the maximum response to avoid a population spike induction. Baseline fEPSPs were stimulated in an alternating manner in every 15 seconds via two inputs (stimulating electrodes P0 and P1). After the amplitude of the baseline fEPSPs became constant, they were recorded for at least 20 min. Then, LTP was induced through delivery of HFS (100 Hz/s) via one of the stimulation electrodes (P0 or P1). If the first LTP did not reach a minimum of 20% above the baseline level, the experiment was stopped to avoid false-negative values from hippocampal slices of poor quality.

After HFS, the stimulations from both inputs were further applied with the same frequency as before (0.033 Hz), and fEPSPs were recorded for another 60 min. The stimulation intensity was constant throughout the subsequent experiment periods.

2.2.3.2 Experimental setups



Figure 10. Effects of $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers on LTP of murine hippocampal slices

(Curves: schematics of fEPSP slope values that were plotted over time while recording with computer software)

- a. Stable baselines were recorded for 20 min via both inputs (P0 and P1, 0.033 Hz)
- An initial LTP (control) was induced through the HFS train (100 pulses/100 Hz) via one stimulus electrode (P1 or P0) and recorded for 60 min.
- c. $A\beta_{1-42}$ (50nM) was applied to the ACSF bath and circulated for 90 min, until the $A\beta_{1-42}$ concentration reached a steady state between the circulating ACSF and the brain tissue.
- d. To demonstrate synaptic toxicity of A β_{1-42} , a second LTP was induced via the other input (if the first input was P0, then with P1, and vice versa) and recorded for at least 60 min.



Figure 11. Effects of pridopidine on LTP of murine hippocampal slices

(Curves: schematics of fEPSP slope values that were plotted over time while recording with computer software)

- a. Stable baselines were recorded for 20 min via both inputs (P0 and P1, 0.033 Hz)
- b. An initial LTP (control) was induced (HFS, 100 pulses/100 Hz) via one input (P1 or P0) and recorded for 60 min.

 Pridopidine (1 µM, 300 nM, 100 nM or 30 nM) was added to the ACSF bath and circulated for 60 min until the pridopidine concentration reached a steady state between ACSF circulation and the brain tissue.



d. A second LTP was induced via the other input and recorded for 60 min.

Figure 12. Effects of pridopidine on synaptic toxicity induced by $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers in murine hippocampal slices

(Curves: schematics of fEPSP slope values that were plotted over time while recording with computer software)

- After the baseline fEPSPs stabilized, pridopidine (100 nM or 30 nM) was applied in the ACSF bath. The concentration of pridopidine reached a steady state while the baselines were recorded for 60 min.
- b. An initial LTP (control) was induced (HFS, 100 pulses/100 Hz) via one input (P0 or P1) and recorded for 60 min.
- c. $A\beta_{1-42}$ (50 nM) was applied to the ACSF bath. The concentration of $A\beta_{1-42}$ (50 nM) reached a steady state while recording fEPSPs for 90 min.
- d. A second LTP was induced via the other input and recorded for 60 min.

2.2.4 Analysis and statistics

Using a laboratory interface board (ITC-16, Instrutech Corp., NY, USA) and Win LTP software, the recordings were amplified, filtered (3 kHz) and digitized (9 kHz). Two stimulation electrodes (P0 and P1) were used to apply inputs every 15 seconds in an alternating manner. For each input, two fEPSPs were averaged every minute. Data were analyzed with the software Win LTP. Slopes of the fEPSPs were measured at between 20 and 80% of the peak amplitude. The fEPSP slopes between 50 and 60 min after HFS were quantile normalized to the average baseline slopes over the last 5 min before HFS (the normalized

fEPSPs are, therefore, percent changes of LTPs in the last 10 min from the baseline). All statistical tests were performed using IBM SPSS. To test the normality of the data distribution, a Shapiro-Wilk test was used to obtain p-values. Using a paired t-test, the normalized fEPSPs of a group of slices before and after the same treatment were compared (control vs. treatment). An unpaired t-test was performed to compare two different treatments applied to groups of slices, since they were submitted to completely distinct experimental conditions. Results with p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant (*P \leq 0.05, **P \leq 0.01 and ***P \leq 0.001).

3 Results

3.1 Aβ₁₋₄₂ oligomers have a negative effect on LTP induction in the hippocampus

The level of control LTP induced via the first input was 147.5 ± 3.7%. After 90 min incubation of brain slices with A β_{1-42} , LTP was induced with the second input. In the presence of A β_{1-42} (50 nM), fEPSPs between 50 and 60 min after HFS could be only potentiated up to 115.4 ± 3.9%. Compared to control LTPs, the reduction was statistically significant (p = 0.012). A β_{1-42} did not affect the fEPSP before LTP induction.



Figure 13. LTP impairment induced by A β_{1-42} (50nM) in murine hippocampus

A. Comparison of normalized LTPs under the control condition (black) and after the application of A β_{1-42} oligomers (white, 50 nM). The insets represent

normalized fEPSP traces before and after HFS (B: baseline, L: LTP, arrow: time of HFS delivery).

B. The histogram depicts averaged fEPSP values between 50 and 60 min after HFS under control conditions and after the application of $A\beta_{1-42}$. The values were quantile normalized to baseline. After 90 min of $A\beta_{1-42}$ exposure, fEPSPs in the last 10 min were significantly decreased from 147.5 ± 3.7% (n = 27) to 115.4 ± 3.9% (n = 8, p = 0.012). Data are displayed as means ± standard error of means (S.E.M.; the numbers in the histogram represent the number of experiments).

3.2 Pridopidine affects LTP induction differently depending on its concentration

To confirm the highest concentration of pridopidine that does not interfere with LTP per se, four different concentration levels of pridopidine were tested (1 μ M, 300 nM, 100 nM and 30 nM). At all concentrations, pridopidine did not affect fEPSPs before HFS. Both 100 nM and 30 nM were effective concentrations, whereas 100 nM still inhibited LTP slightly compared to a control condition (Figure 14). The reduction was, however, not statistically significant (147.5 ± 3.7%, n = 27 vs. 137.7 ± 7.8%, n = 9, p = 0.361). Pridopidine applied at 300 nM reduced LTP by more than half compared to control LTP. In the presence of 1 μ M pridopidine, LTP was far under 20% and therefore was significantly reduced compared to a control (147.5 ± 3.7%, n = 27 vs. 110.6 ± 6.1%, n = 16, p = 0.001).


Figure 14. The effects of pridopidine applied at different concentrations upon LTP in murine hippocampus.

- A. Comparison of normalized LTPs in the presence of different concentrations of pridopidine (1 μ M, 300 nM, 100 nM and 30 nM). The insets represent normalized fEPSP traces before and after HFS (B: baseline, L: LTP, arrow: time of HFS delivery). Under the control condition, fEPSPs were potentiated to 147.5 ± 3.7% (n = 27). Compared to control LTP, pridopidine with a concentration of 1 μ M (110.6 ± 6.1%, n = 16, p = 0.001, light grey circle) and 300 nM (121.5 ± 7.6%, n = 6, p = 0.239, dark grey circle) reduced LTP. However, 100 nM pridopidine had only a slight negative effect on LTP (134.3 ± 4.4%, n = 16, p = 0.361, dark grey square). Moreover, 30 nM of pridopidine did not block LTP (148.0 ± 7.9%, n = 12, p = 0.167, white square). Data are displayed as means ± S.E.M. and n represents the number of experiments.
- B. Histogram representing the normalized fEPSPs between 50 and 60 min after HFS compared to baseline. After a brain slice was exposed to pridopidine at one of four different concentrations (1 μ M, 300 nM, 100 nM and 30 nM), significant reduction of LTP could be only observed in slices incubated with 1 μ M (p = 0.001).

3.3 Pridopidine (100 nM) reverses A_{β1-42} oligomer-induced LTP deficits

Two effective concentrations of pridopidine (100 nM, 30 nM) that did not significantly reduce LTP were further tested to assess whether they could

restore the synaptotoxic effect of A β_{1-42} (50 nM) on LTP. As mentioned above, 100 nM pridopidine alone inhibited LTP slightly; however, the effect was not statistically significant compared to a control case (p = 0.361). An A β_{1-42} mediated inhibitory effect on LTP could be reduced through the application of 100 nM pridopidine. LTP recovery under 100nM pridopidine was statistically significant compared to LTP under A β_{1-42} (137.7 ± 7.8%, n = 9, p = 0.034).



Figure 15. Effects of pridopidine (100 nM) on A β_{1-42} (50 nM)-induced LTP impairment

- A. 100 nM Pridopidine could reverse negative effects of $A\beta_{1-42}$ (50 nM) on LTP. The insets represent normalized fEPSP traces before and after HFS. (B: baseline, L: LTP, arrow: time of HFS delivery). After 60 min incubation of murine hippocampal slice with pridopidine (100 nM, dark grey square), the control LTP was evoked with HFS and monitored for 60 min. Subsequently, $A\beta_{1-42}$ was incubated for 90 min, and the second LTP was induced (light grey square). The negative effect of $A\beta_{1-42}$ on LTP could be reproduced through the interleaved experiments in a control condition (black circle) and via $A\beta_{1-42}$ application (white circle).
- B. Histogram representing the normalized fEPSPs averaged between 50 and 60 min after HFS. 100 nM of pridopidine alone reduced LTP; however, the reduction was significantly minimal compared to the detrimental effect of $A\beta_{1-42}$ on LTP (134.3 ± 4.4%, n = 16 vs. 115.4 ± 3.9%, n = 8: p = 0.011). Notably, 100 nM pridopidine could restore LTP after the simultaneous

application of A β_{1-42} (137.7 ± 7.8%, n = 9 vs. 115.4 ± 3.9%, n = 8: p = 0.034). Data are displayed as means ± S.E.M. and n represents the number of experiments.

3.4 Pridopidine (30 nM) reverses $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomer-induced LTP deficits

Brain slices incubated with a lower concentration of pridopidine (30 nM), which did not interfere with LTP at all, produced LTP of 148.0 ± 7.9% (n = 12) on average. A β_{1-42} -mediated negative effects on LTP could be ameliorated through the application of 30 nM pridopidine with averaged LTP of 140.2 ± 8.7% (n = 8).



Figure 16. Effects of pridopidine (30 nM) on $A\beta_{1-42}$ (50 nM)-induced LTP impairment

- A. 30 nM pridopidine could prevent $A\beta_{1-42}$ -induced LTP impairment. The insets represent normalized fEPSP traces before and after HFS (B: baseline, L: LTP, arrow: time of HFS delivery). Brain slices were incubated for 60 min with 30 nM pridopidine (white square) followed by the first LTP. After 90 min of brain slice incubation with $A\beta_{1-42}$, a second LTP was evoked (grey square). The $A\beta_{1-42}$ -mediated inhibitory effect on LTP could be reproduced through interleaved experiments under a control condition (black circle) and via $A\beta_{1-42}$ application (white circle).
- B. Histogram showing the normalized fEPSPs averaged between 50 and 60 min after LTP induction. Compared to the control LTP, 30 nM pridopidine did not

interfere with fEPSPs at all (148.0 ± 7.9%, n = 12, p = 0.005) but restored LTP in the presence of A β_{1-42} (140.2 ± 8.7%, n = 8, p = 0.021). Data are displayed as means ± S.E.M. and n represents the number of experiments.

4. Discussion

Pridopidine prevented LTP impairment by $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers in a concentrationdependent manner. Because of its higher affinity, the neuroprotective effects of pridopidine are likely mediated though S1R rather than D2R. However, subcellular mechanisms of S1R rescuing CA3-CA1 LTP impairment caused by $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers remain unclear. In the present experiments, S1R antagonists such as haloperidol or NE-100 were not used to confirm that S1R is required in the rescue of LTP by pridopidine.

4.1 S1R-mediated effects of pridopidine on synaptic plasticity

Researchers have suggested that S1R might improve synaptic plasticity by modulating NMDAr functions. NMDAr is known as a ligand-gated cation channel that allows the passage of nonselective cations such as Na²⁺, Ca²⁺-influx and K⁺-efflux. NMDAr is blocked by Mg²⁺ at resting membrane potential and releases Mg²⁺ in a voltage-dependent manner. NMDAr, whose physiological actions are associated with the formation of LTP, is mostly localized in the postsynaptic membrane of excitatory synapses in various regions of the CNS (Kleshchevnikov, 1998). The NMDAr contains a glutamate and a glycine binding sites. NMDAr is localized not only in synaptic membranes but also in extrasynaptic compartments. Researchers have suggested that extrasynaptic NMDAr might instead be related to the formation of LTD (Papouin et al., 2012).

Martina and colleagues measured postsynaptic amplitudes of NMDAr in rat hippocampal slices using patch-clamp whole-cell recording (Martina et al., 2007). The amplitude of NMDAr was significantly increased through another S1R-agonist, pentazocine, and this effect might be mediated by the blocking of a Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channel (SK channel). SK channels facilitate the hyperpolarization of dendritic spines of murine hippocampal slices. They are activated by Ca²⁺-influx through postsynaptic NMDAr during synaptic membrane depolarization (Aydar et al., 2002; Ngo-Anh et al., 2005). Pentazocine could also enhance LTP significantly after tetanic stimulation in CA3-CA1 SCCP in hippocampal slices (Martina et al., 2007). Similarly, another synthetic SK-channel blocker was also found to potentiate LTP in CA3-CA1 synapses in murine hippocampal slices (Ngo-Anh et al., 2005).

4.2 S1R-mediated synaptogenetic effects of pridopidine

In vivo rat experiments conducted by Pabba et al. have indicated that S1R might also be related to synaptogenetic effects of S1R on NMDAr (Pabba et al., 2014). Through intraperitoneal injection of S1R agonist and antagonist, these researchers demonstrated that activations of S1R are related to an increase of protein synthesis of NMDAr subunits (GluN1A and GluN2B) and PSD-95. Pabba et al. also observed that S1R acted as a molecular chaperone to increase NMDAr traffic to the plasma membrane. Interestingly, S1R activation decreased interactions between GluN2B and PSD-95 in the synaptic membrane. As mentioned above, an extrasynaptic NMDAr that preferably contains GluN2B as at least one of its subunit may be associated with LTD for rapid homeostatic downregulation of synaptic activity (Delgado et al., 2018; Yasuda & Mukai, 2015). The homeostatic action of extrasynaptic NMDAr might indicate limited efficiency of pridopidine at certain high concentrations (1 μ M, 300 nM, 100 nM), so S1R-mediated modulation of LTP might depend on cellular contexts involving different mechanisms of action.

4.3 Effects of pridopidine on ER Ca²⁺ homeostasis and A β formation

Ryskamp et al. demonstrated in 2017 and 2019 that pridopidine may stabilize hippocampal and striatal dendritic spines via activation of S1R through regulation of Ca²⁺ levels in ER (Ryskamp et al., 2017; D. Ryskamp et al., 2019). The stability of dendritic mushroom spines depends on intraluminal Ca²⁺ levels regulated by the neuronal-store-operated Ca²⁺ (nSOC) pathway (D. A. Ryskamp et al., 2019). In physiological states, S1R does not significantly change ER Ca²⁺ levels. S1R is, as formerly mentioned, restricted mostly to the MAM of the ER. In the ER MAM, S1R is responsible for the Ca²⁺ flux from the ER to the mitochondria (Watanabe et al., 2016).

Hippocampal and striatal cell types differ in how S1R affects Ca²⁺ homeostasis depending on S1R's interaction partners and subcellular contexts (Wu et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2010). In murine hippocampal neurons, S1R increases nSOC and decreases ER Ca²⁺ levels through positive regulation of PS1 and PS2 proteins. Both PS1 and PS2 facilitate ER Ca²⁺-leakage pathways in hippocampal neuronal cells. S1R increases trafficking of PS1 and PS2 into the ER membrane as a molecular chaperone (Nelson et al., 2007; Tu et al., 2006). As mentioned above, PS1 and PS2 comprise the catalytic site of γ -secretase and act as intramembrane proteases. This guality might also suggest that pridopidine and other S1R agonists could attenuate the formation of $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers by preventing catalytic cleavage of PS-holoproteins to produce a catalytic component of γ -secretase. Indeed, treating mice with a PS1-mutation using a synthetic S1R agonist decreased the formation of soluble and insoluble $A\beta_{1-40}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$ in brain tissues (Fisher et al., 2016). In the present experiments, however, this effect could not be observed as $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers were directly applied to brain slices.

In contrast, pridopidine restored ER Ca^{2+} levels in mouse models of HD by decreasing nSOC, which is upregulated in HD (Ryskamp et al., 2017). In HD, mHtt aggregates sensitize Ca^{2+} efflux from the ER in medium spiny neurons

(MSNs; (Tang et al., 2003). MSNs are gamma-aminobutyric acidergic (GABAergic) inhibitory neurons mostly found in the basal ganglia. In the dorsal striatum, there are two types of MSNs: D1 for direct pathway and D2 for indirect pathway (Mansuri et al., 2020). These two pathways play a key role in locomotion.

4.4 Effects of pridopidine in synaptic plasticity in dose/time-dependent manners

Both 100 nM and 30 nM pridopidine reversed detrimental effect of A β_{1-42} on LTP. Throughout the experiment, pridopidine did not change the basal fEPSPs. However, it is unclear why high concentrations of pridopidine (1 µM, 300 nM, 100 nM) reduced the amplitude of LTP compared to a control. Further experiments were not conducted to investigate if higher concentrations of pridopidine (1 μ M, 300 nM) counteract the synaptotoxic effects of A β_{1-42} oligomers on LTP. In behavioral studies of mice, the reversible effect of S1R agonists (for example, neurosteroids such as pregnenolone or dehydroepiandrosterone [DHEA] and pentazocine) on Aβ-induced amnestic deficit was found to be dose-dependent in a bell-shaped manner (Maurice et al., 1998). In contrary, a 16-hour-long treatment of murine hippocampal cultures with 100 nM or 1 µM pridopidine prevented mushroom spine loss; this effect persisted in higher doses of up to 1µM but resulted in a linear dose effect (D. Ryskamp et al., 2019). This finding indicates that the effect or pridopidine might not only be dose-dependent but also time-dependent (16 hours vs. 60 min). In oral treatment, pridopidine must cross the blood-brain barrier. Moreover, gene transcriptional effects of S1R via BDNF might be facilitated at different time courses. To investigate synaptogenetic effects of pridopidine, such as mushroom spine stabilization, a longer incubation of brain slices in pridopidine might be required. Indeed, effects of pridopidine in clinical trials based on TFCscales could first be observed after 12 months. Since brain slices are unlikely to be healthy in our electrophysiological setups for such long periods, further investigations should be done in vivo.

5. Conclusion

Pridopidine is a small molecular substance that has been investigated for numerous neurodegenerative disorders such as HD, ALS, PD and AD. The aim of the present study was to explore potential therapeutic effects of pridopidine against AD symptoms by demonstrating its procognitive effect on synaptic plasticity in preclinical phases of drug development. We tested whether pridopidine could reverse detrimental effects of $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers on LTP. In our experiment, pridopidine restored murine hippocampal neurons from the synaptotoxic effects of A β_{1-42} oligomers on LTP in dose- and time-dependent manners. Interestingly, pridopidine was initially assumed to be a 'dopamine stabilizer' in its pre-clinical developing phase as it improved motor functions in dual ways in animal experiments. Pridopidine was believed to target dopamine receptors such as D2R. Therefore, further investigations were initially widely performed under the hypothesis that pridopidine might improve motor functions of HD, until novel mechanisms were discovered suggesting that pridopidine might work through S1R even with higher binding affinity. Pharmacological studies have reported that S1R has generated much attention as a biomarker for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases through its upregulation of numerous neuroprotective pathways. Given as a S1R agonist, pridopidine regulates key cellular pathways that are impaired in neurodegenerative diseases, such as release of BDNF, maintenance of Ca^{2+} homeostasis, improvement of neuronal plasticity and reduction of neuronal oxidative stress. Pridopidine has recently undergone numerous clinical trials to prove its safety. Although several clinical trials (HART, MermeiHD, PRIDE-HD) did not reach primary endpoints based on UHDRS scores because they did not significantly improve motor function of HD patients, pridopidine has been further investigated in open-label extension tests, and it indeed effected TFC-scales positively as a secondary endpoint. The efficacy of pridopidine based on TFCscales is related to the neuroprotective and procognitive mechanisms of S1R. Pridopidine is currently in third, randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled

clinical study (PROOF HD); this work will evaluate both the motor features of patients and the efficacy of pridopidine based on TFC-scales in early stages of HD. Through PET-imaging experiments and phase 2 and 3 clinical trials, a dose with the best efficacy in early stages of HD (45 mg, b.i.d.) has also been well investigated. Further investigations should be done on the treatment of late-phase of HD *in vitro* and *in vivo* to test for a correlation between TFC-scales and biological parameters for neurodegeneration in CSF or brain tissues.

6. List of Figures

Figure 1. Ar pa	nyloidogenic (upper) and nonamyloidogenic (lower) APP process athways7
Figure 2. El m	ectrophysiological experiment setup for inducing LTP and LTD in the urine hippocampus13
Figure 3. Mo	olecular structure of DA and pridopidine17
Figure 4. Si	mplified model of S1R19
Figure 5. Th	ne signaling pathway promoted by pridopidine through S1R21
Figure 6. Vi	bratom preparing 350um-thick hippocampal brain slices29
Figure 7. Br	ain-slice-holding chamber30
Figure 8. Ex	xtracellular microelectrode setup31
Figure 9. Im	mersion superfusing chamber31
Figure 10. E	Effects of A β_{1-42} oligomers on LTP of murine hippocampal slices33

Figure 11. Effects of pridopidine on LTP of murine hippocampal slices33
Figure 12. Effects of pridopidine on synaptic toxicity induced by $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers in murine hippocampal slices
Figure 13. LTP impairment induced by A β_{1-42} (50nM) in murine hippocampus35
Figure 14. The effects of pridopidine applied at different concentrations upon LTP in murine hippocampus37
Figure 15. Effects of pridopidine (100nM) on Aβ ₁₋₄₂ (50nM)-induced LTP impairment38
Figure 16. Effects of pridopidine (30nM) on A β_{1-42} (50nM)-induced LTP impairment

7. List of Tables

Table 1. The main batteries of CERAD	11
Table 2. Unique functions of pridopidine revealed in pre-clinical trials	17
Table 3. Distribution of S1R in the brain (high to low)	19
Table 4. Clinical trials with pridopidine in neurodegenerative diseases	23
Table 5. UHDRS-TFC scale	24
Table 6. Chemicals 2	26
Table 7. Electropysiology setup	26

Table 8. Brain slice prepara	ation	27
Table 9. Software		27

8. References

- Adams, J. P., Roberson, E. D., English, J. D., Selcher, J. C., & Sweatt, J. D. (2000). MAPK regulation of gene expression in the central nervous system. *Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars)*, *60*(3), 377-394. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11016081</u>
- Anderson, J. J., Holtz, G., Baskin, P. P., Wang, R., Mazzarelli, L., Wagner, S. L., & Menzaghi, F. (1999). Reduced cerebrospinal fluid levels of alphasecretase-cleaved amyloid precursor protein in aged rats: correlation with spatial memory deficits. *Neuroscience*, *93*(4), 1409-1420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(99)00244-4</u>
- Aydar, E., Palmer, C. P., Klyachko, V. A., & Jackson, M. B. (2002). The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. *Neuron*, 34(3), 399-410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00677-3</u>
- Baltaci, S. B., Mogulkoc, R., & Baltaci, A. K. (2019). Molecular Mechanisms of Early and Late LTP. *Neurochem Res*, *44*(2), 281-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-018-2695-4</u>
- Baltazar-Lara, R., Avila-Mendoza, J., Martinez-Moreno, C. G., Carranza, M., Pech-Pool, S., Vazquez-Martinez, O., Diaz-Munoz, M., Luna, M., & Aramburo, C. (2020). Neuroprotective Effects of Growth Hormone (GH) and Insulin-Like Growth Factor Type 1 (IGF-1) after Hypoxic-Ischemic Injury in Chicken Cerebellar Cell Cultures. *Int J Mol Sci, 22*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22010256</u>
- Baruch-Suchodolsky, R., & Fischer, B. (2009). Abeta40, either soluble or aggregated, is a remarkably potent antioxidant in cell-free oxidative systems. *Biochemistry*, 48(20), 4354-4370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/bi802361k</u>

- Bear, M. F. (2003). Bidirectional synaptic plasticity: from theory to reality. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 358*(1432), 649-655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2002.1255</u>
- Beraldo, F. H., Ostapchenko, V. G., Caetano, F. A., Guimaraes, A. L., Ferretti, G. D., Daude, N., Bertram, L., Nogueira, K. O., Silva, J. L., Westaway, D., Cashman, N. R., Martins, V. R., Prado, V. F., & Prado, M. A. (2016).
 Regulation of Amyloid beta Oligomer Binding to Neurons and Neurotoxicity by the Prion Protein-mGluR5 Complex. *J Biol Chem*, 291(42), 21945-21955. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.738286
- Bliss, T. V., & Collingridge, G. L. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: longterm potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature*, *361*(6407), 31-39. https://doi.org/10.1038/361031a0
- Bliss, T. V., & Lomo, T. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *J Physiol*, 232(2), 331-356. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4727084</u>
- Borroni, B., Colciaghi, F., Corsini, P., Akkawi, N., Rozzini, L., Del Zotto, E., Talarico, G., Cattabeni, F., Lenzi, G. L., Di Luca, M., & Padovani, A. (2002). Early stages of probable Alzheimer disease are associated with changes in platelet amyloid precursor protein forms. *Neurol Sci*, *23*(5), 207-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s100720200042</u>
- Brahmkhatri, V. P., Prasanna, C., & Atreya, H. S. (2015). Insulin-like growth factor system in cancer: novel targeted therapies. *Biomed Res Int, 2015*, 538019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/538019</u>
- Breton, A., Casey, D., & Arnaoutoglou, N. A. (2019). Cognitive tests for the detection of mild cognitive impairment (MCI), the prodromal stage of dementia: Meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy studies. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 34(2), 233-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5016</u>
- Bubb, E. J., Kinnavane, L., & Aggleton, J. P. (2017). Hippocampal diencephalic - cingulate networks for memory and emotion: An anatomical guide. *Brain Neurosci Adv*, 1(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2398212817723443</u>

- Cacace, R., Sleegers, K., & Van Broeckhoven, C. (2016). Molecular genetics of early-onset Alzheimer's disease revisited. *Alzheimers Dement*, *12*(6), 733-748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.01.012</u>
- Camargo, C. H. F., Bronzini, A., Tolentino, E. S., Medyk, C., & Schultz-Pereira, G. L. (2018). Can the CERAD neuropsychological battery be used to assess cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease? *Arq Neuropsiquiatr, 76*(3), 145-149. https://doi.org/10.1590/0004-282x20180003
- Carlsson, A., & Carlsson, M. L. (2006). A dopaminergic deficit hypothesis of schizophrenia: the path to discovery. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci, 8*(1), 137-142. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16640125</u>
- Chen, G. F., Xu, T. H., Yan, Y., Zhou, Y. R., Jiang, Y., Melcher, K., & Xu, H. E. (2017). Amyloid beta: structure, biology and structure-based therapeutic development. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, *38*(9), 1205-1235. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2017.28
- Chernick, D., Ortiz-Valle, S., Jeong, A., Swaminathan, S. K., Kandimalla, K. K., Rebeck, G. W., & Li, L. (2018). High-density lipoprotein mimetic peptide 4F mitigates amyloid-beta-induced inhibition of apolipoprotein E secretion and lipidation in primary astrocytes and microglia. J Neurochem, 147(5), 647-662. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.14554
- Cruts, M., Theuns, J., & Van Broeckhoven, C. (2012). Locus-specific mutation databases for neurodegenerative brain diseases. *Hum Mutat, 33*(9), 1340-1344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.22117</u>
- Dandona, P., Mohamed, I., Ghanim, H., Sia, C. L., Dhindsa, S., Dandona, S.,
 Makdissi, A., & Chaudhuri, A. (2011). Insulin suppresses the expression of amyloid precursor protein, presenilins, and glycogen synthase kinase-3beta in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, *96*(6), 1783-1788. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-2961</u>
- de Yebenes, J. G., Landwehrmeyer, B., Squitieri, F., Reilmann, R., Rosser, A.,
 Barker, R. A., Saft, C., Magnet, M. K., Sword, A., Rembratt, A., Tedroff, J.,
 & Mermai, H. D. s. i. (2011). Pridopidine for the treatment of motor
 function in patients with Huntington's disease (MermaiHD): a phase 3,

randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol*, *10*(12), 1049-1057. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70233-2</u>

- Delgado, J. Y., Fink, A. E., Grant, S. G. N., O'Dell, T. J., & Opazo, P. (2018). Rapid homeostatic downregulation of LTP by extrasynaptic GluN2B receptors. *J Neurophysiol*, *120*(5), 2351-2357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00421.2018</u>
- Devanand, D. P., Andrews, H., Kreisl, W. C., Razlighi, Q., Gershon, A., Stern, Y., Mintz, A., Wisniewski, T., Acosta, E., Pollina, J., Katsikoumbas, M., Bell, K. L., Pelton, G. H., Deliyannides, D., Prasad, K. M., & Huey, E. D. (2020). Antiviral therapy: Valacyclovir Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease (VALAD) Trial: protocol for a randomised, double-blind,placebocontrolled, treatment trial. *BMJ Open*, *10*(2), e032112. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032112
- Dulewicz, M., Kulczynska-Przybik, A., Slowik, A., Borawska, R., & Mroczko, B. (2021). Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 (FABP3) and Apolipoprotein E4 (ApoE4) as Lipid Metabolism-Related Biomarkers of Alzheimer's Disease. J Clin Med, 10(14). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10143009</u>
- Dyhring, T., Nielsen, E. O., Sonesson, C., Pettersson, F., Karlsson, J., Svensson, P., Christophersen, P., & Waters, N. (2010). The dopaminergic stabilizers pridopidine (ACR16) and (-)-OSU6162 display dopamine D(2) receptor antagonism and fast receptor dissociation properties. *Eur J Pharmacol, 628*(1-3), 19-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.11.025</u>
- Edelmann, E., Cepeda-Prado, E., & Lessmann, V. (2017). Coexistence of Multiple Types of Synaptic Plasticity in Individual Hippocampal CA1 Pyramidal Neurons. *Front Synaptic Neurosci*, 9, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsyn.2017.00007</u>
- Eimer, W. A., Vijaya Kumar, D. K., Navalpur Shanmugam, N. K., Rodriguez, A. S., Mitchell, T., Washicosky, K. J., Gyorgy, B., Breakefield, X. O., Tanzi, R. E., & Moir, R. D. (2018). Alzheimer's Disease-Associated beta-Amyloid Is Rapidly Seeded by Herpesviridae to Protect against Brain Infection. *Neuron*, *100*(6), 1527-1532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.11.043</u>

- Emrani, S., Lamar, M., Price, C. C., Wasserman, V., Matusz, E., Au, R., Swenson, R., Nagele, R., Heilman, K. M., & Libon, D. J. (2020).
 Alzheimer's/Vascular Spectrum Dementia: Classification in Addition to Diagnosis. *J Alzheimers Dis*, *73*(1), 63-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-190654</u>
- Escobar, I., Xu, J., Jackson, C. W., & Perez-Pinzon, M. A. (2019). Altered Neural Networks in the Papez Circuit: Implications for Cognitive Dysfunction after Cerebral Ischemia. *J Alzheimers Dis*, *67*(2), 425-446. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-180875</u>
- Fillenbaum, G. G., van Belle, G., Morris, J. C., Mohs, R. C., Mirra, S. S., Davis, P. C., Tariot, P. N., Silverman, J. M., Clark, C. M., Welsh-Bohmer, K. A., & Heyman, A. (2008). Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD): the first twenty years. *Alzheimers Dement*, *4*(2), 96-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2007.08.005</u>
- Fisher, A., Bezprozvanny, I., Wu, L., Ryskamp, D. A., Bar-Ner, N., Natan, N., Brandeis, R., Elkon, H., Nahum, V., Gershonov, E., LaFerla, F. M., & Medeiros, R. (2016). AF710B, a Novel M1/sigma1 Agonist with Therapeutic Efficacy in Animal Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurodegener Dis*, *16*(1-2), 95-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000440864</u>
- Francardo, V., Bez, F., Wieloch, T., Nissbrandt, H., Ruscher, K., & Cenci, M. A. (2014). Pharmacological stimulation of sigma-1 receptors has neurorestorative effects in experimental parkinsonism. *Brain*, *137*(Pt 7), 1998-2014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awu107</u>
- Gallimore, A. R., Kim, T., Tanaka-Yamamoto, K., & De Schutter, E. (2018). Switching On Depression and Potentiation in the Cerebellum. *Cell Rep*, 22(3), 722-733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.12.084</u>
- Garcia-Miralles, M., Geva, M., Tan, J. Y., Yusof, N., Cha, Y., Kusko, R., Tan, L. J., Xu, X., Grossman, I., Orbach, A., Hayden, M. R., & Pouladi, M. A. (2017).
 Early pridopidine treatment improves behavioral and transcriptional deficits in YAC128 Huntington disease mice. *JCI Insight, 2*(23). <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.95665</u>

- Geva, M., Kusko, R., Soares, H., Fowler, K. D., Birnberg, T., Barash, S., Wagner, A. M., Fine, T., Lysaght, A., Weiner, B., Cha, Y., Kolitz, S., Towfic, F., Orbach, A., Laufer, R., Zeskind, B., Grossman, I., & Hayden, M. R. (2016). Pridopidine activates neuroprotective pathways impaired in Huntington Disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, *25*(18), 3975-3987. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddw238
- Gibson, J. S., Ridner, S. H., Dietrich, M. S., Sohn, M. B., Rhoten, B. A., & Claassen, D. O. (2021). Measuring Functional Status in Huntington's Disease. *Mov Disord*, *36*(3), 757-761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28363</u>
- Giuffrida, M. L., Tomasello, F., Caraci, F., Chiechio, S., Nicoletti, F., & Copani,
 A. (2012). Beta-amyloid monomer and insulin/IGF-1 signaling in
 Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurobiol*, *46*(3), 605-613.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-012-8313-6
- Grachev, I. D., Meyer, P. M., Becker, G. A., Bronzel, M., Marsteller, D., Pastino, G., Voges, O., Rabinovich, L., Knebel, H., Zientek, F., Rullmann, M., Sattler, B., Patt, M., Gerhards, T., Strauss, M., Kluge, A., Brust, P., Savola, J. M., Gordon, M. F., Geva, M., Hesse, S., Barthel, H., Hayden, M. R., & Sabri, O. (2021). Sigma-1 and dopamine D2/D3 receptor occupancy of pridopidine in healthy volunteers and patients with Huntington disease: a [(18)F] fluspidine and [(18)F] fallypride PET study. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging, 48*(4), 1103-1115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-020-05030-3</u>
- Grigor'eva, E. V., Malankhanova, T. B., Ustyantseva, E. I., Minina, J. M., Redina, O. E., Morozov, V. V., Shevela, A. I., Zakian, S. M., & Medvedev, S. P. (2019). Generation of two iPSC lines (ICGi008-A and ICGi008-B) from skin fibroblasts of a patient with early-onset Alzheimer's disease caused by London familial APP mutation (V717I). *Stem Cell Res, 36*, 101415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2019.101415</u>
- Gromek, K. A., Suchy, F. P., Meddaugh, H. R., Wrobel, R. L., LaPointe, L. M., Chu, U. B., Primm, J. G., Ruoho, A. E., Senes, A., & Fox, B. G. (2014). The oligomeric states of the purified sigma-1 receptor are stabilized by ligands. *J Biol Chem*, *289*(29), 20333-20344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.537993</u>

- Habib, A., Sawmiller, D., & Tan, J. (2017). Restoring Soluble Amyloid Precursor Protein alpha Functions as a Potential Treatment for Alzheimer's Disease. J Neurosci Res, 95(4), 973-991. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23823</u>
- Hanley, J. G., Khatri, L., Hanson, P. I., & Ziff, E. B. (2002). NSF ATPase and alpha-/beta-SNAPs disassemble the AMPA receptor-PICK1 complex. *Neuron*, *34*(1), 53-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00638-4</u>
- Hansen, N., & Manahan-Vaughan, D. (2014). Dopamine D1/D5 receptors mediate informational saliency that promotes persistent hippocampal long-term plasticity. *Cereb Cortex*, 24(4), 845-858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs362</u>
- Harwood, D. G., Sultzer, D. L., & Wheatley, M. V. (2000). Impaired insight in Alzheimer disease: association with cognitive deficits, psychiatric symptoms, and behavioral disturbances. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol*, *13*(2), 83-88.
 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10780626</u>
- Hayashi, T., & Su, T. P. (2003). Intracellular dynamics of sigma-1 receptors (sigma(1) binding sites) in NG108-15 cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, *306*(2), 726-733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.103.051292</u>
- Hellwig, S., Frings, L., Bormann, T., Kreft, A., Amtage, F., Spehl, T. S., Weiller, C., Tuscher, O., & Meyer, P. T. (2013). Neural correlates of cognitive dysfunction in Lewy body diseases and tauopathies: combined assessment with FDG-PET and the CERAD test battery. *Brain Lang*, *127*(2), 307-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2013.10.004</u>
- Hernandez, A. I., Blace, N., Crary, J. F., Serrano, P. A., Leitges, M., Libien, J. M., Weinstein, G., Tcherapanov, A., & Sacktor, T. C. (2003). Protein kinase M zeta synthesis from a brain mRNA encoding an independent protein kinase C zeta catalytic domain. Implications for the molecular mechanism of memory. *J Biol Chem*, *278*(41), 40305-40316. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M307065200
- Holtmaat, A. J., Trachtenberg, J. T., Wilbrecht, L., Shepherd, G. M., Zhang, X., Knott, G. W., & Svoboda, K. (2005). Transient and persistent dendritic

spines in the neocortex in vivo. *Neuron*, *45*(2), 279-291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.01.003

- Huang, Y., & Mahley, R. W. (2014). Apolipoprotein E: structure and function in lipid metabolism, neurobiology, and Alzheimer's diseases. *Neurobiol Dis*, 72 Pt A, 3-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2014.08.025</u>
- Huntington Study Group, H. I. (2013). A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of pridopidine in Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord*, *28*(10), 1407-1415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25362</u>
- Jansen, K. L., Faull, R. L., Storey, P., & Leslie, R. A. (1993). Loss of sigma binding sites in the CA1 area of the anterior hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease correlates with CA1 pyramidal cell loss. *Brain Res*, *623*(2), 299-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(93)91441-t</u>
- Kellar, D., & Craft, S. (2020). Brain insulin resistance in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders: mechanisms and therapeutic approaches. *Lancet Neurol*, *19*(9), 758-766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30231-3</u>
- Kelly, M. T., Crary, J. F., & Sacktor, T. C. (2007). Regulation of protein kinase Mzeta synthesis by multiple kinases in long-term potentiation. J Neurosci, 27(13), 3439-3444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5612-06.2007</u>
- Kim, J., Eltorai, A. E., Jiang, H., Liao, F., Verghese, P. B., Kim, J., Stewart, F. R., Basak, J. M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2012). Anti-apoE immunotherapy inhibits amyloid accumulation in a transgenic mouse model of Abeta amyloidosis. *J Exp Med*, *209*(12), 2149-2156. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20121274
- Kim, W. B., & Cho, J. H. (2017). Encoding of Discriminative Fear Memory by Input-Specific LTP in the Amygdala. *Neuron*, *95*(5), 1129-1146 e1125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.08.004</u>

Kleshchevnikov, A. M. (1998). [Long-term potentiation of the NMDAdependent component of the EPSP in the hippocampus]. *Usp Fiziol Nauk, 29*(4), 6-23. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9883495</u> (Dlitel'naia potentsiatsiia NMDA-zavisimogo komponenta VPSP v gippokampe.)

- Kumar, A., Kumar Singh, S., Kumar, V., Kumar, D., Agarwal, S., & Rana, M. K. (2015). Huntington's disease: an update of therapeutic strategies. *Gene*, 556(2), 91-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2014.11.022</u>
- Kummer, M. P., & Heneka, M. T. (2014). Truncated and modified amyloidbeta species. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 6(3), 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/alzrt258</u>
- Kusko, R., Dreymann, J., Ross, J., Cha, Y., Escalante-Chong, R., Garcia-Miralles, M., Tan, L. J., Burczynski, M. E., Zeskind, B., Laifenfeld, D., Pouladi, M., Geva, M., Grossman, I., & Hayden, M. R. (2018). Large-scale transcriptomic analysis reveals that pridopidine reverses aberrant gene expression and activates neuroprotective pathways in the YAC128 HD mouse. *Mol Neurodegener*, *13*(1), 25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13024-018-0259-3</u>
- Lauren, J., Gimbel, D. A., Nygaard, H. B., Gilbert, J. W., & Strittmatter, S. M. (2009). Cellular prion protein mediates impairment of synaptic plasticity by amyloid-beta oligomers. *Nature*, *457*(7233), 1128-1132. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07761
- Lepelletier, F. X., Vandesquille, M., Asselin, M. C., Prenant, C., Robinson, A. C., Mann, D. M. A., Green, M., Barnett, E., Banister, S. D., Mottinelli, M., Mesangeau, C., McCurdy, C. R., Fricke, I. B., Jacobs, A. H., Kassiou, M., & Boutin, H. (2020). Evaluation of (18)F-IAM6067 as a sigma-1 receptor PET tracer for neurodegeneration in vivo in rodents and in human tissue. *Theranostics*, *10*(18), 7938-7955. <u>https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.47585</u>
- Lesne, S. E., Sherman, M. A., Grant, M., Kuskowski, M., Schneider, J. A., Bennett, D. A., & Ashe, K. H. (2013). Brain amyloid-beta oligomers in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, *136*(Pt 5), 1383-1398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt062</u>
- Liao, F., Li, A., Xiong, M., Bien-Ly, N., Jiang, H., Zhang, Y., Finn, M. B., Hoyle, R., Keyser, J., Lefton, K. B., Robinson, G. O., Serrano, J. R., Silverman, A. P., Guo, J. L., Getz, J., Henne, K., Leyns, C. E., Gallardo, G., Ulrich, J. D., Sullivan, P. M., Lerner, E. P., Hudry, E., Sweeney, Z. K., Dennis, M. S., Hyman, B. T., Watts, R. J., & Holtzman, D. M. (2018). Targeting of

nonlipidated, aggregated apoE with antibodies inhibits amyloid accumulation. *J Clin Invest*, *128*(5), 2144-2155. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI96429

- Lomo, T. (2003). The discovery of long-term potentiation. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, *358*(1432), 617-620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2002.1226</u>
- Long, J. D., Mills, J. A., Leavitt, B. R., Durr, A., Roos, R. A., Stout, J. C., Reilmann, R., Landwehrmeyer, B., Gregory, S., Scahill, R. I., Langbehn, D. R., Tabrizi, S. J., Track, H. D., & Track-On, I. (2017). Survival End Points for Huntington Disease Trials Prior to a Motor Diagnosis. *JAMA Neurol*, *74*(11), 1352-1360. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.2107
- Mansuri, M. S., Peng, G., Wilson, R. S., Lam, T. T., Zhao, H., Williams, K. R., & Nairn, A. C. (2020). Differential Protein Expression in Striatal D1- and D2-Dopamine Receptor-Expressing Medium Spiny Neurons. *Proteomes*, 8(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/proteomes8040027</u>
- Marrazzo, A., Caraci, F., Salinaro, E. T., Su, T. P., Copani, A., & Ronsisvalle, G. (2005). Neuroprotective effects of sigma-1 receptor agonists against beta-amyloid-induced toxicity. *Neuroreport*, *16*(11), 1223-1226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200508010-00018</u>
- Martina, M., Turcotte, M. E., Halman, S., & Bergeron, R. (2007). The sigma-1 receptor modulates NMDA receptor synaptic transmission and plasticity via SK channels in rat hippocampus. *J Physiol*, *578*(Pt 1), 143-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2006.116178</u>
- Marzolo, M. P., & Bu, G. (2009). Lipoprotein receptors and cholesterol in APP trafficking and proteolytic processing, implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, *20*(2), 191-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2008.10.005
- Maurice, T., Su, T. P., & Privat, A. (1998). Sigma1 (sigma 1) receptor agonists and neurosteroids attenuate B25-35-amyloid peptide-induced amnesia in mice through a common mechanism. *Neuroscience*, *83*(2), 413-428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(97)00405-3</u>
- Maurice, T., Urani, A., Phan, V. L., & Romieu, P. (2001). The interaction between neuroactive steroids and the sigma1 receptor function: behavioral consequences and therapeutic opportunities. *Brain Res*

Brain Res Rev, 37(1-3), 116-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0173(01)00112-6</u>

- McFarthing, K., Prakash, N., & Simuni, T. (2019). Clinical Trial Highlights -Dyskinesia. *J Parkinsons Dis*, *9*(3), 449-465. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-199002</u>
- McGarry, A., Kieburtz, K., Abler, V., Grachev, I. D., Gandhi, S., Auinger, P., Papapetropoulos, S., & Hayden, M. (2017). Safety and Exploratory Efficacy at 36 Months in Open-HART, an Open-Label Extension Study of Pridopidine in Huntington's Disease. *J Huntingtons Dis*, *6*(3), 189-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JHD-170241</u>
- Meunier, J., Demeilliers, B., Celerier, A., & Maurice, T. (2006). Compensatory effect by sigma1 (sigma1) receptor stimulation during alcohol withdrawal in mice performing an object recognition task. *Behav Brain Res*, *166*(1), 166-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2005.07.019</u>
- Mishina, M., Ishiwata, K., Ishii, K., Kitamura, S., Kimura, Y., Kawamura, K., Oda, K., Sasaki, T., Sakayori, O., Hamamoto, M., Kobayashi, S., & Katayama, Y. (2005). Function of sigma1 receptors in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand*, *112*(2), 103-107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0404.2005.00432.x</u>
- Mishina, M., Ohyama, M., Ishii, K., Kitamura, S., Kimura, Y., Oda, K., Kawamura, K., Sasaki, T., Kobayashi, S., Katayama, Y., & Ishiwata, K. (2008). Low density of sigma1 receptors in early Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Nucl Med*, *22*(3), 151-156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12149-007-0094-z</u>
- Mishra, A. K., Mavlyutov, T., Singh, D. R., Biener, G., Yang, J., Oliver, J. A., Ruoho, A., & Raicu, V. (2015). The sigma-1 receptors are present in monomeric and oligomeric forms in living cells in the presence and absence of ligands. *Biochem J*, 466(2), 263-271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20141321</u>
- Muller, S., Herde, L., Preische, O., Zeller, A., Heymann, P., Robens, S., Elbing,
 U., & Laske, C. (2019). Diagnostic value of digital clock drawing test in comparison with CERAD neuropsychological battery total score for discrimination of patients in the early course of Alzheimer's disease

from healthy individuals. *Sci Rep, 9*(1), 3543. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40010-0

- Muller, U., von Cramon, D. Y., & Pollmann, S. (1998). D1- versus D2-receptor modulation of visuospatial working memory in humans. *J Neurosci*, *18*(7), 2720-2728. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9502829</u>
- Nagele, R. G., D'Andrea, M. R., Anderson, W. J., & Wang, H. Y. (2002). Intracellular accumulation of beta-amyloid(1-42) in neurons is facilitated by the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience*, *110*(2), 199-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(01)00460-2</u>
- Natesan, S., Svensson, K. A., Reckless, G. E., Nobrega, J. N., Barlow, K. B., Johansson, A. M., & Kapur, S. (2006). The dopamine stabilizers (S)-(-)- (3-methanesulfonyl-phenyl)-1-propyl-piperidine [(-)-OSU6162] and 4- (3-methanesulfonylphenyl)-1-propyl-piperidine (ACR16) show high in vivo D2 receptor occupancy, antipsychotic-like efficacy, and low potential for motor side effects in the rat. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, *318*(2), 810-818. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.106.102905</u>
- Navarro, G., Moreno, E., Bonaventura, J., Brugarolas, M., Farre, D., Aguinaga, D., Mallol, J., Cortes, A., Casado, V., Lluis, C., Ferre, S., Franco, R., Canela, E., & McCormick, P. J. (2013). Cocaine inhibits dopamine D2 receptor signaling via sigma-1-D2 receptor heteromers. *PLoS One*, *8*(4), e61245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061245</u>
- Nelson, O., Tu, H., Lei, T., Bentahir, M., de Strooper, B., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2007). Familial Alzheimer disease-linked mutations specifically disrupt Ca2+ leak function of presenilin 1. *J Clin Invest*, *117*(5), 1230-1239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI30447</u>
- Ngo-Anh, T. J., Bloodgood, B. L., Lin, M., Sabatini, B. L., Maylie, J., & Adelman, J. P. (2005). SK channels and NMDA receptors form a Ca2+-mediated feedback loop in dendritic spines. *Nat Neurosci, 8*(5), 642-649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1449</u>
- Nilsson, M., Carlsson, A., Markinhuhta, K. R., Sonesson, C., Pettersson, F., Gullme, M., & Carlsson, M. L. (2004). The dopaminergic stabiliser ACR16 counteracts the behavioural primitivization induced by the

NMDA receptor antagonist MK-801 in mice: implications for cognition. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, *28*(4), 677-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.05.004</u>

- Nilsson, M. K., & Carlsson, M. L. (2013). The monoaminergic stabilizer (-)-OSU6162 reverses delay-dependent natural forgetting and improves memory impairment induced by scopolamine in mice. *Neuropharmacology*, 75, 399-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.08.017</u>
- Nistico, R., Dargan, S. L., Amici, M., Collingridge, G. L., & Bortolotto, Z. A. (2011). Synergistic interactions between kainate and mGlu receptors regulate bouton Ca signalling and mossy fibre LTP. *Sci Rep*, *1*, 103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep00103</u>

 Obregon, D., Hou, H., Deng, J., Giunta, B., Tian, J., Darlington, D.,
 Shahaduzzaman, M., Zhu, Y., Mori, T., Mattson, M. P., & Tan, J. (2012).
 Soluble amyloid precursor protein-alpha modulates beta-secretase activity and amyloid-beta generation. *Nat Commun*, *3*, 777. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1781</u>

- Olsson, B., Lautner, R., Andreasson, U., Ohrfelt, A., Portelius, E., Bjerke, M., Holtta, M., Rosen, C., Olsson, C., Strobel, G., Wu, E., Dakin, K., Petzold, M., Blennow, K., & Zetterberg, H. (2016). CSF and blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol*, *15*(7), 673-684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00070-3</u>
- Pabba, M., Wong, A. Y., Ahlskog, N., Hristova, E., Biscaro, D., Nassrallah, W., Ngsee, J. K., Snyder, M., Beique, J. C., & Bergeron, R. (2014). NMDA receptors are upregulated and trafficked to the plasma membrane after sigma-1 receptor activation in the rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci*, *34*(34), 11325-11338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0458-14.2014</u>
- Pang, P. T., & Lu, B. (2004). Regulation of late-phase LTP and long-term memory in normal and aging hippocampus: role of secreted proteins tPA and BDNF. *Ageing Res Rev, 3*(4), 407-430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2004.07.002</u>

- Papouin, T., Ladepeche, L., Ruel, J., Sacchi, S., Labasque, M., Hanini, M., Groc, L., Pollegioni, L., Mothet, J. P., & Oliet, S. H. (2012). Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors are gated by different endogenous coagonists. *Cell*, *150*(3), 633-646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.029</u>
- Patel, H., & Zamani, R. (2021). The role of PKMzeta in the maintenance of long-term memory: a review. *Rev Neurosci, 32*(5), 481-494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/revneuro-2020-0105</u>
- Penn, A. C., Zhang, C. L., Georges, F., Royer, L., Breillat, C., Hosy, E., Petersen, J. D., Humeau, Y., & Choquet, D. (2017). Hippocampal LTP and contextual learning require surface diffusion of AMPA receptors. *Nature*, *549*(7672), 384-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23658</u>
- Pettersson, F., Ponten, H., Waters, N., Waters, S., & Sonesson, C. (2010). Synthesis and evaluation of a set of 4-phenylpiperidines and 4phenylpiperazines as D2 receptor ligands and the discovery of the dopaminergic stabilizer 4-[3-(methylsulfonyl)phenyl]-1propylpiperidine (huntexil, pridopidine, ACR16). *J Med Chem*, *53*(6), 2510-2520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jm901689v</u>
- Picascia, M., Zangaglia, R., Bernini, S., Minafra, B., Sinforiani, E., & Pacchetti, C. (2015). A review of cognitive impairment and differential diagnosis in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. *Funct Neurol*, *30*(4), 217-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.11138/fneur/2015.30.4.217</u>
- Ponten, H., Kullingsjo, J., Lagerkvist, S., Martin, P., Pettersson, F., Sonesson, C., Waters, S., & Waters, N. (2010). In vivo pharmacology of the dopaminergic stabilizer pridopidine. *Eur J Pharmacol, 644*(1-3), 88-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.07.023</u>
- Ponten, H., Kullingsjo, J., Sonesson, C., Waters, S., Waters, N., & Tedroff, J. (2013). The dopaminergic stabilizer pridopidine decreases expression of L-DOPA-induced locomotor sensitisation in the rat unilateral 6-OHDA model. *Eur J Pharmacol, 698*(1-3), 278-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2012.10.039
- Rammes, G., Gravius, A., Ruitenberg, M., Wegener, N., Chambon, C., Sroka-Saidi, K., Jeggo, R., Staniaszek, L., Spanswick, D., O'Hare, E., Palmer, P.,

Kim, E. M., Bywalez, W., Egger, V., & Parsons, C. G. (2015). MRZ-99030
- A novel modulator of Abeta aggregation: II - Reversal of Abeta oligomer-induced deficits in long-term potentiation (LTP) and cognitive performance in rats and mice. *Neuropharmacology*, *92*, 170-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.12.037</u>

- Rammes, G., Hasenjager, A., Sroka-Saidi, K., Deussing, J. M., & Parsons, C. G. (2011). Therapeutic significance of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors and mGluR5 metabotropic glutamate receptors in mediating the synaptotoxic effects of beta-amyloid oligomers on long-term potentiation (LTP) in murine hippocampal slices. *Neuropharmacology*, 60(6), 982-990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.01.051
- Readhead, B., Haure-Mirande, J. V., Funk, C. C., Richards, M. A., Shannon, P., Haroutunian, V., Sano, M., Liang, W. S., Beckmann, N. D., Price, N. D., Reiman, E. M., Schadt, E. E., Ehrlich, M. E., Gandy, S., & Dudley, J. T. (2018). Multiscale Analysis of Independent Alzheimer's Cohorts Finds Disruption of Molecular, Genetic, and Clinical Networks by Human Herpesvirus. *Neuron*, *99*(1), 64-82 e67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.05.023
- Reilmann, R., McGarry, A., Grachev, I. D., Savola, J. M., Borowsky, B., Eyal, E., Gross, N., Langbehn, D., Schubert, R., Wickenberg, A. T., Papapetropoulos, S., Hayden, M., Squitieri, F., Kieburtz, K., Landwehrmeyer, G. B., European Huntington's Disease, N., & Huntington Study Group, i. (2019). Safety and efficacy of pridopidine in patients with Huntington's disease (PRIDE-HD): a phase 2, randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre, dose-ranging study. *Lancet Neurol, 18*(2), 165-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30391-0</u>
- Riedemann, T., Patchev, A. V., Cho, K., & Almeida, O. F. (2010). Corticosteroids: way upstream. *Mol Brain*, *3*, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-6606-3-2</u>
- Ritchie, C., Smailagic, N., Noel-Storr, A. H., Takwoingi, Y., Flicker, L., Mason, S. E., & McShane, R. (2014). Plasma and cerebrospinal fluid amyloid beta

for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease dementia and other dementias in people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(6), CD008782. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008782.pub4

- Ron, S., Dudai, Y., & Segal, M. (2012). Overexpression of PKMzeta alters morphology and function of dendritic spines in cultured cortical neurons. *Cereb Cortex*, 22(11), 2519-2528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr323</u>
- Rosenberg, R. N., Lambracht-Washington, D., Yu, G., & Xia, W. (2016). Genomics of Alzheimer Disease: A Review. *JAMA Neurol*, *73*(7), 867-874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.0301</u>
- Rung, J. P., Carlsson, A., Markinhuhta, K. R., & Carlsson, M. L. (2005). The dopaminergic stabilizers (-)-OSU6162 and ACR16 reverse (+)-MK-801induced social withdrawal in rats. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, *29*(5), 833-839. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.03.003</u>
- Rung, J. P., Rung, E., Helgeson, L., Johansson, A. M., Svensson, K., Carlsson, A., & Carlsson, M. L. (2008). Effects of (-)-OSU6162 and ACR16 on motor activity in rats, indicating a unique mechanism of dopaminergic stabilization. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)*, *115*(6), 899-908. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-008-0038-3
- Ryskamp, D., Wu, J., Geva, M., Kusko, R., Grossman, I., Hayden, M., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2017). The sigma-1 receptor mediates the beneficial effects of pridopidine in a mouse model of Huntington disease. *Neurobiol Dis*, *97*(Pt A), 46-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2016.10.006</u>
- Ryskamp, D., Wu, L., Wu, J., Kim, D., Rammes, G., Geva, M., Hayden, M., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2019). Pridopidine stabilizes mushroom spines in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease by acting on the sigma-1 receptor. *Neurobiol Dis, 124,* 489-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2018.12.022</u>
- Ryskamp, D. A., Korban, S., Zhemkov, V., Kraskovskaya, N., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2019). Neuronal Sigma-1 Receptors: Signaling Functions and Protective Roles in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Front Neurosci, 13*, 862. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00862</u>

- Sacktor, T. C. (2008). PKMzeta, LTP maintenance, and the dynamic molecular biology of memory storage. *Prog Brain Res, 169,* 27-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(07)00002-7
- Safieh, M., Korczyn, A. D., & Michaelson, D. M. (2019). ApoE4: an emerging therapeutic target for Alzheimer's disease. *BMC Med*, *17*(1), 64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1299-4</u>
- Sahlholm, K., Sijbesma, J. W., Maas, B., Kwizera, C., Marcellino, D.,
 Ramakrishnan, N. K., Dierckx, R. A., Elsinga, P. H., & van Waarde, A.
 (2015). Pridopidine selectively occupies sigma-1 rather than dopamine
 D2 receptors at behaviorally active doses. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 232(18), 3443-3453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-3997-8</u>
- Sahlholm, K., Valle-Leon, M., Fernandez-Duenas, V., & Ciruela, F. (2018). Pridopidine Reverses Phencyclidine-Induced Memory Impairment. *Front Pharmacol*, *9*, 338. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00338</u>
- Schmidt, H. R., Zheng, S., Gurpinar, E., Koehl, A., Manglik, A., & Kruse, A. C. (2016). Crystal structure of the human sigma1 receptor. *Nature*, *532*(7600), 527-530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17391</u>
- Selkoe, D. J., & Hardy, J. (2016). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. *EMBO Mol Med*, *8*(6), 595-608. <u>https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201606210</u>
- Sennvik, K., Fastbom, J., Blomberg, M., Wahlund, L. O., Winblad, B., & Benedikz, E. (2000). Levels of alpha- and beta-secretase cleaved amyloid precursor protein in the cerebrospinal fluid of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Neurosci Lett*, *278*(3), 169-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3940(99)00929-5</u>
- Shao, C. Y., Sondhi, R., van de Nes, P. S., & Sacktor, T. C. (2012). PKMzeta is necessary and sufficient for synaptic clustering of PSD-95. *Hippocampus*, 22(7), 1501-1507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20996</u>
- Simons, M., Keller, P., De Strooper, B., Beyreuther, K., Dotti, C. G., & Simons, K. (1998). Cholesterol depletion inhibits the generation of betaamyloid in hippocampal neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *95*(11), 6460-6464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.11.6460</u>

- Swerdlow, R. H. (2018). Mitochondria and Mitochondrial Cascades in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis, 62*(3), 1403-1416. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170585</u>
- Tadori, Y., Kitagawa, H., Forbes, R. A., McQuade, R. D., Stark, A., & Kikuchi, T. (2007). Differences in agonist/antagonist properties at human dopamine D(2) receptors between aripiprazole, bifeprunox and SDZ 208-912. *Eur J Pharmacol*, *574*(2-3), 103-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.07.031
- Takahashi, M., Tada, T., Nakamura, T., Koyama, K., & Momose, T. (2019).
 Efficacy and Limitations of rCBF-SPECT in the Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease With Amyloid-PET. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen, 34(5), 314-321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317519841192</u>
- Tang, T. S., Tu, H., Chan, E. Y., Maximov, A., Wang, Z., Wellington, C. L., Hayden, M. R., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2003). Huntingtin and huntingtinassociated protein 1 influence neuronal calcium signaling mediated by inositol-(1,4,5) triphosphate receptor type 1. *Neuron*, 39(2), 227-239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00366-0</u>
- Tedroff J, S. C., Waters N, et al. . (2004). A pilot study of the novel dopamine stabilizer ACR16 in advanced Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders, 19.*
- Thomas, M. J., & Malenka, R. C. (2003). Synaptic plasticity in the mesolimbic dopamine system. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 358(1432), 815-819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2002.1236</u>
- Tu, H., Nelson, O., Bezprozvanny, A., Wang, Z., Lee, S. F., Hao, Y. H., Serneels, L., De Strooper, B., Yu, G., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2006). Presenilins form ER Ca2+ leak channels, a function disrupted by familial Alzheimer's disease-linked mutations. *Cell*, *126*(5), 981-993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.059
- Usiello, A., Baik, J. H., Rouge-Pont, F., Picetti, R., Dierich, A., LeMeur, M., Piazza, P. V., & Borrelli, E. (2000). Distinct functions of the two isoforms of dopamine D2 receptors. *Nature*, *408*(6809), 199-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35041572</u>

- Valotassiou, V., Malamitsi, J., Papatriantafyllou, J., Dardiotis, E., Tsougos, I.,
 Psimadas, D., Alexiou, S., Hadjigeorgiou, G., & Georgoulias, P. (2018).
 SPECT and PET imaging in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Nucl Med*, *32*(9),
 583-593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12149-018-1292-6</u>
- Vandal, M., & Calon, F. (2015). Response to Comment on Vandal et al. Insulin Reverses the High-Fat Diet-Induced Increase in Brain Abeta and Improves Memory in an Animal Model of Alzheimer Disease. Diabetes 2014;63:4291-4301. *Diabetes, 64*(7), e18. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-0386</u>
- Wang, S. M., Han, K. D., Kim, N. Y., Um, Y. H., Kang, D. W., Na, H. R., Lee, C. U., & Lim, H. K. (2021). Late-life depression, subjective cognitive decline, and their additive risk in incidence of dementia: A nationwide longitudinal study. *PLoS One*, *16*(7), e0254639. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254639
- Watanabe, M., Satoh, A., Kanemoto, M., Ohkoshi, N., & Shoji, S. (2000). De novo expansion of a CAG repeat in a Japanese patient with sporadic Huntington's disease. *J Neurol Sci*, *178*(2), 159-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-510x(00)00368-3</u>
- Watanabe, S., Ilieva, H., Tamada, H., Nomura, H., Komine, O., Endo, F., Jin, S., Mancias, P., Kiyama, H., & Yamanaka, K. (2016). Mitochondriaassociated membrane collapse is a common pathomechanism in SIGMAR1- and SOD1-linked ALS. *EMBO Mol Med*, 8(12), 1421-1437. <u>https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201606403</u>
- Waters, S., Tedroff, J., Ponten, H., Klamer, D., Sonesson, C., & Waters, N. (2018). Pridopidine: Overview of Pharmacology and Rationale for its Use in Huntington's Disease. *J Huntingtons Dis*, 7(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3233/JHD-170267
- White, N. M., Packard, M. G., & Hiroi, N. (1991). Place conditioning with dopamine D1 and D2 agonists injected peripherally or into nucleus accumbens. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, *103*(2), 271-276. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1674160</u>
- Whitwell, J. L. (2018). Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging. *Curr Opin Neurol*, *31*(4), 396-404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.00000000000570</u>

- Winblad, B., Amouyel, P., Andrieu, S., Ballard, C., Brayne, C., Brodaty, H., Cedazo-Minguez, A., Dubois, B., Edvardsson, D., Feldman, H., Fratiglioni, L., Frisoni, G. B., Gauthier, S., Georges, J., Graff, C., Iqbal, K., Jessen, F., Johansson, G., Jonsson, L., Kivipelto, M., Knapp, M., Mangialasche, F., Melis, R., Nordberg, A., Rikkert, M. O., Qiu, C., Sakmar, T. P., Scheltens, P., Schneider, L. S., Sperling, R., Tjernberg, L. O., Waldemar, G., Wimo, A., & Zetterberg, H. (2016). Defeating Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a priority for European science and society. *Lancet Neurol*, *15*(5), 455-532. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00062-4
- Wolinsky, D., Drake, K., & Bostwick, J. (2018). Diagnosis and Management of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 20(12), 117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-018-0978-8</u>
- Wu, J., Ryskamp, D. A., Liang, X., Egorova, P., Zakharova, O., Hung, G., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2016). Enhanced Store-Operated Calcium Entry Leads to Striatal Synaptic Loss in a Huntington's Disease Mouse Model. J Neurosci, 36(1), 125-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1038-15.2016</u>
- Xu, Y., Kong, G. K., Menting, J. G., Margetts, M. B., Delaine, C. A., Jenkin, L. M., Kiselyov, V. V., De Meyts, P., Forbes, B. E., & Lawrence, M. C. (2018). How ligand binds to the type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor. *Nat Commun*, *9*(1), 821. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03219-7</u>
- Yao, Y., Kelly, M. T., Sajikumar, S., Serrano, P., Tian, D., Bergold, P. J., Frey, J. U., & Sacktor, T. C. (2008). PKM zeta maintains late long-term potentiation by N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor/GluR2-dependent trafficking of postsynaptic AMPA receptors. *J Neurosci, 28*(31), 7820-7827. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0223-08.2008</u>
- Yasuda, H., & Mukai, H. (2015). Turning off of GluN2B subunits and turning on of CICR in hippocampal LTD induction after developmental GluN2 subunit switch. *Hippocampus*, *25*(11), 1274-1284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22435</u>
- Yudowski, G. A., Olsen, O., Adesnik, H., Marek, K. W., & Bredt, D. S. (2013). Acute inactivation of PSD-95 destabilizes AMPA receptors at

hippocampal synapses. *PLoS One*, *8*(1), e53965. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053965

- Zahola, P., Hanics, J., Pinter, A., Mate, Z., Gaspardy, A., Hevesi, Z., Echevarria, D., Adori, C., Barde, S., Torocsik, B., Erdelyi, F., Szabo, G., Wagner, L., Kovacs, G. G., Hokfelt, T., Harkany, T., & Alpar, A. (2019). Secretagogin expression in the vertebrate brainstem with focus on the noradrenergic system and implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Struct Funct*, *224*(6), 2061-2078. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-019-01886-</u> <u>W</u>
- Zhang, H., Sun, S., Herreman, A., De Strooper, B., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2010).
 Role of presenilins in neuronal calcium homeostasis. *J Neurosci*, 30(25), 8566-8580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1554-10.2010</u>
- Zhu, L., Wang, Z., Du, Z., Qi, X., Shu, H., Liu, D., Su, F., Ye, Q., Liu, X., Zhou, Z., Tang, Y., Song, R., Wang, X., Lin, L., Li, S., Han, Y., Wang, L., & Zhang, Z. (2020). Impaired Parahippocampal Gyrus-Orbitofrontal Cortex Circuit Associated with Visuospatial Memory Deficit as a Potential Biomarker and Interventional Approach for Alzheimer Disease. *Neurosci Bull*, *36*(8), 831-844. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-020-00498-3</u>
- Zhu, X. C., Tan, L., Wang, H. F., Jiang, T., Cao, L., Wang, C., Wang, J., Tan, C.
 C., Meng, X. F., & Yu, J. T. (2015). Rate of early onset Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Transl Med*, *3*(3), 38. <u>https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.01.19</u>
- Zhuo, M. (2018). Cortical LTP: A Synaptic Model for Chronic Pain. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, *1099*, 147-155. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-1756-9 13
- Zimbone, S., Monaco, I., Giani, F., Pandini, G., Copani, A. G., Giuffrida, M. L., & Rizzarelli, E. (2018). Amyloid Beta monomers regulate cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein functions by activating type-1 insulin-like growth factor receptors in neuronal cells. *Aging Cell*, *17*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12684</u>

9. Abstract

Memory impairment is one of the main symptoms of Alzheimer's disease (AD), a neurodegenerative disorder with increasing prevalence among elderly people. The pathophysiology of AD is characterized by chronic, progressive neurodegeneration which involves early synaptotoxicity. One of the most obvious pathological features of AD is the accumulation of β -amyloid (A β) peptides, especially $A\beta_{1-42}$, in the brain. Soluble $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers are thought to interfere with Ca²⁺ signaling by, for example, activating N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors (NMDAr) directly or increasing Ca²⁺ currents through voltagegated calcium channels. Pridopidine is a novel drug that is currently being investigated in third clinical trials. These trials have demonstrated the neuroprotective and precognitive effects of pridopidine in neurodegenerative disorders such as Huntington's disease (HD), Parkinson's disease (PD), and AD. Pridopidine's neuroprotective effects are mediated through sigma-1 receptor (S1R). As a highly selective S1R agonist, pridopidine enhances neurotrophic factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and normalizes endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Ca²⁺ levels in neuronal cells. S1R might act as a molecular chaperone to potentiate synaptic plasticity by enhancing protein synthesis and trafficking NMDAr to the plasma membrane. This work explored whether pridopidine ameliorates synaptic deficits induced by A β_{1-42} . To address this question, we examined the effects of pridopidine on long-term potentiation (LTP) of the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway (SCCP) in mice hippocampal slices. Specifically, we explored whether pridopidine could reverse LTP deficits in hippocampal slices in the presence of A β_{1-42} oligomers. Since higher concentrations of pridopidine (1 µM, 300 nM) significantly reduced LTP, concentrations of 100 nM and 30 nM were further tested. Although 100 nM pridopidine slightly reduced LTP, both 100 nM and 30 nM concentrations of pridopidine restored the deficit induced by 50 nM of A β_{1-42} oligomers. The positive synaptogenetic effects of pridopidine were demonstrated in hippocampal cell culture experiments; specifically, this treatment stabilized mushroom spines in mouse models of AD. The present data provide evidence

that pridopidine might be a potential disease-modifying therapeutic agent to treat AD, as it seems to counteract the synaptotoxic effects of $A\beta_{1-42}$ oligomers on LTP in a dose-dependent manner.

10. Publication

Pridopidine stabilizes mushroom spines in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease by acting on the sigma-1 receptor

Daniel Ryskamp, Lili Wu, Jun Wu, Dabin Kim, Gerhard Rammes, Michal Geva, Michael Hayden, Ilya Bezprozvanny

Neurobiology of Disease, Volume 124, April 2019, Pages 489-504, doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2018.12.022

Received 14 September 2018, Revised 12 November 2018, Accepted 26 December 2018

11. List of abbreviations

Α

Aβ Amyloid-Beta

AcH Acetycholine

ACSF Artificial Cerebrospinal Fluid

AD Alzheimer's Disease

ALS Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

ApoE Apolipoprotein E

APP Amyloid Precursor Protein

AMPAr α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor

В

BDNF Brain-derived neurotrophic factor

b.i.d. bis in die, twice a day

BiP Binding Immunoglobulin Protein

С

CAG repeat Cytosine-Adenine-Guanine repeat

CAMKII Calcium-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II

CERAD the Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease

CNS Central Nervous System

CREB cAMP-Response Element Binding Protein

CSF Cerebrospinal Fluid

CT Computed Tomography

CTF C-Terminal Fragment

D

- DA Dopamine
- DG Dentate Gyrus
- DHEA Dehydroepiandosterone
- DMSO Dimethyl Sulfoxide
- D2L the Long form of Dopamine D2 Receptor
- D1R Dopamine D1 Receptor
- D2R Dopamine D2 Receptor
- D2S the Short form of Dopamine D2 Receptor

Е

- eLTP early phase of LTP
- ER Endoplasmic Reticulum

F

- fAD familiar Alzeimer's Disease
- fEPSP field Excitatory Postsynaptic Potential
- FTD Fronto-Temporal Dementia

G

- GABA Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid
- GR Glucocorticoid Receptor

GSK-3 α Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 α

Н

HD Huntington's Disease

HDL High-Density Lipoprotein

HFS High Frequency Stimulation

5-HT Serotonin

Htt Huntingtin Protein

L

IGF Insulin Growth Factor

L

LRP Low-density lipoprotein receptor-Related Protein

LTD Long-Term Depression

LTP Long-Term Potentiation

ILTP late phase of LTP

Μ

MAM Mitochondrial-Associated Membrane

MAPK Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase

mHtt mutated Huntingtin Protein

MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging

mGluR Metabotrophic Glutamate Receptor

MMST Mini-Mental-Status Test
MSN Medium Spiny Neuron

Ν

nAChr nicotinergic Acetylcholine Receptor

NA Noradrenaline

NIA National Institute of Aging

NMDAr N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor

NSF N-ethylmaleimide-Sensitive Fusion Protein

nSOC pathway neuronal-store-operated Ca²⁺ pathway

Ρ

PD Parkinson's Disease

PET Positron Emission Tomography

PICK1 Protein Interacting with C Kinase-1

PIN1 Protein Interacting with NIMA 1

PKA Protein Kinase A

PKC Protein Kinase C

PKMζ Protein Kinase M-zeta

PrP^c cellular prion protein

PSD-95 Postsynaptic Density protein 95

PSEN1 Presenilin Gene 1

PSEN2 Presenilin Gene 2

PS1 Presenilin 1

PS2 Presenilin 2

R

ROS reactive oxygen species

U

UHDRS Unified Huntington Disease Rating Scale

S

sAPPα Soluble Amyloid Precursor Protein

SCCP Schaffer Collateral-Commissural Pathway

S1R Sigma-1 Receptor

SK-channel Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ Channel

SPECT Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography

Т

TFC Total Functional Capacity

TrkB Tropomyosin receptor kinase B

12. Danksagung

An dieser Stelle möchte ich meinen besonderen Dank den nachstehenden Personen entgegenbringen, ohne deren Mithilfe die Fertigstellung dieser Promotionsschrift nie zustande gekommen wäre:

An erster Stelle bedanke ich mich bei meinem Doktorvater, Prof. Dr. Gerhard Rammes von der Klinik für Anästhesiologie, und bei meiner Betreuerin, PD Dr. Jennifer Altomonte von der Klinik und Poliklinik für Innere Medizin II des Klinikums rechts der Isar. Ich danke zudem der Klinik für Anästhesiologie des Klinikums rechts der Isar, die mir die Möglichkeit gegeben hat, meine Promotionsarbeit in dieser Abteilung absolvieren zu dürfen.

Besonderer Dank gilt Carolin Knoll, Nina Bayer und Andreas Blaschke von der Arbeitsgruppe Experimentelle Neuropharmakologie des Klinikums rechts der Isar für die motivierende Unterstützung und der ausgezeichneten Betreuung während der Datenerhebung.

Von Herzen danke ich meinen Eltern sowie meinem Bruder für die liebevolle und motivierende Unterstützung, für den Rückhalt während meines gesamten Studiums und der Verfassung der Dissertation. 감사합니다.